
Global With production compa-
nies in more than 70 countries around
the world, we are one of the leading 
suppliers of cement, aggregates and 
concrete.

Annual Report 2000

Opportunities The
2000 reporting year saw an increase 
in consolidated sales and an above-
average growth in Group perfor-
mance. These results provide a solid
foundation for future prospects.

The annual report is also published in German.

Holcim Ltd
Zürcherstrasse 156
CH-8645 Jona
Phone +41 58 858 86 00
www.holcim.com

Investor Relations:
Bernhard A. Fuchs
Phone +41 58 858 87 20
Fax +41 58 858 86 69

Corporate Communications:
Roland Walker
Phone +41 58 858 87 10
Fax +41 58 858 87 19



Chairman’s Letter
4

Key Figures
8

Board and Management
10

Environment
12

Europe
14
Business Review
18

North America
22
Business Review
26

Latin America
28
Business Review
32

Africa Middle East
36
Business Review
40

Asia Pacific
42
Business Review
46

Company Data
49

Mission Statement
56

MD & A
68

Consolidated Financial 
Statements
Statement of Income
74
Balance Sheet
75
Statement of Changes in Equity
76
Cash Flow Statement
77
Accounting Policies
78
Notes to the Financial Statements
82
Auditors’ Report
105
Principal Companies
106

Holding Company Results
Statement of Income
108
Balance Sheet
109
Notes to the Financial Statements
110
Appropriation of Net Earnings
113
Auditors’ Report
114

Stock Market Data
115

Stock Market Evolution
116

5-Year Review
119



Prospects The strategies 
we deployed over the past few years
were right on the mark: concentra-
tion on core business, geographical
diversification and market synergies
helped shape our success in 2000.

Once again the Group
made substantial in-
vestments worldwide
in the renovation or
expansion of existing
facilities. Indeed, major
construction projects
are underway or in the
planning stage in North
America. And new pro-
duction facilities are
also being built in Mex-
ico, northern Chile and
Egypt. Whatever the
region, a multitude of
precautions are taken
to protect the environ-
ment.

2 3
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From “Holderbank” to Holcim

It is time to begin a new chapter in the

almost ninety-year history of our compa-

ny. We are asking you, our shareholders,

to approve a new name for our holding

company – Holcim Ltd. We firmly believe

that a distinct logo and a shorter name

will help to give us a higher market pro-

file while drawing attention to our princi-

pal product: cement. The new corporate

image symbolizes our global network, our

openness and the quality and strength of

our products and services.

Pleasing Report

The Group’s results in 2000 maintained

the positive trend of recent years. Our

performance was all the more satisfying

considering the signs towards the end of

the year that the US economy is slowing

down. The Group grew once again due to

an expanded global presence, and we

were able to improve our financial

results. The main contributors to this

excellent achievement were most of the

Latin American Group companies and the

large European Group companies. Also

contributing to this success were a strong

US dollar and a number of new consolida-

tions. Our unwavering concentration on

our core business and sustained opera-

tional improvements and reorganizations

also paid off.

Higher Dividend, Capital Increase and

Share Split

In view of our gratifying consolidated

results and the positive medium-term

outlook, the Board of Directors and Exec-

utive Committee propose that the divi-

dend be increased. We are requesting the

approval of the Annual General Meeting

for the creation of around CHF 600 mil-

lion of authorized capital. This would

allow us to underpin approximately half

of our recently acquired CHF 1.3 billion

shareholdings in the emerging markets

with our own equity. Finally, a 5-for-1

share split would increase the appeal and

liquidity of our registered and bearer

shares.

Group Regions Summary

In Europe, we were able to make the 

most of lively demand and significantly

improve sales. The vigorous restructuring

efforts of recent years are now paying 

off. Worth mentioning here is Gruppo

Merone in Italy, which achieved excellent

results. Trends in other western European

markets were also positive – if not better

than we had hoped. With very few excep-

tions, our Group companies generated

much improved operating results. In cen-

tral Europe, Group companies in Hungary

and Slovakia recorded higher figures than

the previous year, and the recently intro-

duced cost reduction program is looking

promising.

In North America, demand for building

materials remained strong and, once

again, Holnam and St. Lawrence had to

buy in large quantities of cement and

clinker from other Group companies.

However, considerable increases in fuel

costs and short-term operational inter-

ruptions left their mark on the state-

ments of income. Results at both compa-

nies remained below those of the previ-

ous year.

Latin America posted further high-level

growth, achieving very pleasing results

overall. Once again, this Group region

made the greatest contribution to consol-

idated operating profit. Apasco in Mexico

and “Holdercim” in Brazil, in particular,

flourished in a favorable market climate.

By contrast, Argentina went through a

difficult year and Minetti had to push

ahead with its restructuring program in

extremely challenging conditions. Con-

tinued cost optimization measures at

Boyacá, La Cemento Nacional and Cemen-

to Polpaico resulted in a pleasing perfor-

mance from these companies. Cementos

Caribe in Venezuela made full use of its

increased market networking opportuni-

ties in the Caribbean and also improved

its earnings.

The economic climate was varied in Africa

and the Middle East. In South Africa,

Alpha reaped the first rewards from its

restructuring of recent years. Despite dif-

ficult market conditions, Ciments Libanais

and the Moroccan CIOR made a positive

contribution to higher regional operating

results.

The Asian cement markets improved

slightly overall, with significant growth in

consumption in Vietnam, where Morning

Star was able to shift output into top

gear. In contrast, demand in Thailand

remained stable. Substantial export

orders boosted capacity utilization at

Siam City Cement. The optimization and

rationalization programs that have been

carried out at a number of companies will

have a positive impact on future earn-

ings.

Balanced Growth Strategy

The process of consolidation is continuing

in our industry, as it is in others. The

Group views this trend as an opportunity.

In more mature markets, our investments

continue to round out our existing hold-

ings with a view to maximizing integra-

tion and synergy potential. However, our

Success The future will be
marked increasingly by global brand-
ing, ongoing know-how transfer  and
an accelerated network of expertise
and knowledge. We want to be at
the forefront of this evolution. But
success cannot be taken for granted.
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main area of focus is emerging markets

with above-average growth potential,

where we are concentrating on those

countries in which we do not yet have a

presence. We are also giving a high priori-

ty to strengthening our commitment to

companies in which we have minority

shareholdings.

Optimization and Expansion of 

Existing Holdings

To support internal growth, we are con-

tinuously optimizing existing plants and

establishing new cost and resource effi-

cient facilities that meet high environ-

mental standards. By building standard-

design cement plants, we open up new

knowledge sharing opportunities and can

operate and maintain the facilities more

efficiently. The new production line at the

Portland plant in Colorado has come on

stream as early as the spring of 2001, and

work can soon begin on a new plant at

the Holly Hill site in South Carolina. Other

projects are still in development. Holnam

is planning to build a new plant in Mis-

souri, and the Canadian subsidiary has

applied for permission to build a new

plant on the east coast of the USA. Work

is progressing rapidly on doubling cement

output at Ramos Arizpe in northern Mex-

ico to 2.5 million tonnes annually. The

new facility is likely to be commissioned

in early 2002. Finally, Egyptian Cement is

building a fourth kiln line.

Complementary Investment in the

Regions

In the summer of 2000, “Holderbank”

joined forces with Secil, Portugal’s sec-

ond-largest cement producer, to launch a

public bid for Cimpor. With a cement

capacity of 6 million tonnes, Cimpor leads

the Portuguese market. The company also

owns significant cement operations in

Brazil, Spain, Morocco, Tunisia, Mozam-

bique and Egypt, which together produce

a further 12 million tonnes annually. Pri-

vatization of the government’s remaining

stake in Cimpor is still in progress.

The regional network in Central America

and the Caribbean was optimized with

acquisitions in Guatemala and Panama.

With a view to further geographical

diversification, we agreed with the major

shareholder and main creditors of PT

Semen Cibinong in Indonesia that we

would expand our current minority share-

holding into a qualified majority by mid-

2001. However, this move is contingent

upon successful conclusion of the present

financial restructuring program with the

creditors. The exchange-listed Cibinong is

one of the largest local cement producers

in this region with an annual capacity of

approximately 10 million tonnes. Success-

ful contractual negotiations here would

make “Holderbank” the major cement

producer on the main island of Java, with

its 100 million inhabitants. We would also

become by far the largest cement

provider in ASEAN.

Commitment to Sustainable 

Development

“Holderbank” has been an active member

of the World Business Council for Sustain-

able Development since 1999. Our mem-

bership of the Council underlines our

belief in doing all we can for an environ-

ment in which it is worth living. Efforts

within the Group focus on reducing emis-

sions. We are continuing with the use of

alternative fuels and raw materials in the

context of specific projects and invest-

ment programs in all regions. We are also

promoting the production of blended

cements. This allows the clinker factor in

cement to be cut and thus reduces the

burden on the environment.

Synergies at Group Level

Over the past year we have put a great

deal of effort into making the most of

synergies at Group level. This is particu-

larly so in the case of IT and also in the

expansion of e-commerce activities. One

of these initiatives concerned centralized

purchasing for the Group. However, we

have also extended our intranet system.

This will benefit areas such as learning

and training by making the processes

involved much faster.

Staff – a Key Factor

The success of “Holderbank” and the con-

tinued growth of the Group depends fun-

damentally on the motivation and profes-

sionalism displayed by all of its staff.

Momentum can only be sustained and

accelerated through constant learning

and knowledge sharing, enriched by lin-

guistic and cultural diversity. On behalf 

of the Board of Directors and Executive

Committee, I would like to take this

opportunity to extend my sincere thanks

to all “Holderbank” staff around the world

for their outstanding efforts over the past

year.

Favorable Outlook for 2001

Overall, the 2001 financial year began

well, giving the Board of Directors and

Executive Committee good reason to be

optimistic about prospects for the current

year – providing the currency situation

remains stable. Our assessment is based

on slightly weaker economic growth in

some European markets. There are signs

of a similar situation in North America.

However, the “TEA-21” government infra-

structure expansion program is likely to

shore up the construction sector and the

commissioning of new kiln lines will

reduce the low-margin import of cement

and clinker. Latin America can expect a

positive market overall, and further cost

streamlining will provide an additional

boost for this region. Largely favorable

economic signals from the Africa Middle

East Group region lead us to anticipate a

continued improvement in sales in these

areas. Conditions in the various construc-

tion markets in the Asia Pacific region will

differ, but cost savings should still pro-

duce stronger operating results.

Thomas Schmidheiny

Chairman and Managing Director
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When major projects require the
presence of a partner, “Holder-
bank’s” ability to better support
customers and meet their needs
provides us with the perspective
and understanding needed. One
example is Lucerne’s Cultural
and Convention Center by
celebrity architect Jean Nouvel.
To find out about our success fac-
tors, please refer to page 56.

Key figures The Group
further strengthened its position 
in the five regions as a global sup-
plier of building materials such as
cement, aggregates and concrete.
Especially noteworthy is the reward-
ing increase in cash flow from oper-
ating activities.

Group

Million t 2000 1999 ± %

Cement consumption Group countries1 483.0 475.0 +1.6

Production capacity cement 109.8 90.0 +22.0

Sales of cement and clinker 82.0 74.6 +9.9

Sales of aggregates 86.6 84.9 +2.0

Million m3

Sales of ready-mixed concrete 24.9 21.8 +14.2

Personnel 44,316 39,327 +12.7

Million CHF

Net sales 14,012 12,194 +14.9

Operating profit 2,001 1,706 +17.3

Cash flow from operating activities 2,557 1,902 +34.4

Group net income before
minority interests 1,035 978 +5.8

Group net income after
minority interests 886 795 +11.4

Investments in property, plant and
equipment net 1,640 1,111 +47.6

Financial investments net 1,929 710 +171.7

Total assets 24,989 21,702 +15.1

Shareholders’ equity2 9,000 8,232 +9.3

Shareholders’ equity as % 
of total assets2 36.0 37.9

CHF

Earnings per dividend-bearing share

Bearer share 120.60 110.06 +9.6

Registered share 24.12 22.01 +9.6

Fully diluted earnings per share

Bearer share 118.00 108.50 +8.8

Registered share 23.60 21.70 +8.8

Shareholders’ equity per share3

Bearer share 947.19 871.80 +8.6

Registered share 189.44 174.36 +8.6

Holding Company

Million CHF 2000 1999 ± %

Financial income 293.9 223.2 +31.7

Net income 189.7 160.6 +18.1

Shareholders’ equity 3,252 3,224 +0.9

Gross dividend 187.44 161.9 +15.8

CHF

Gross dividend

Bearer share 25.004 22.00 +13.6

Registered share 5.004 4.40 +13.6

Stock market prices (high/low)

Bearer share 2,273/1,629 2,193/1,407

Registered share 600/437 570/300

1 “Holderbank” estimates.
2 Including interests of minority shareholders.
3 After interests of minority shareholders; adjusted.
4 Proposed by the Board of Directors.
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Board of Directors1

Dr. h.c. Thomas Schmidheiny,

Chairman and Managing Director

Dr. Anton E. Schrafl,

Deputy Chairman

Dr. Erich Hunziker

Dr. Willy Kissling

Dr. Peter Kurer

Prof. Dr. Angelo Pozzi

Prof. Dr. Gilbert Probst

Dr. h.c. Wolfgang Schürer

Dr. Rolf Soiron

Peter G. Wodtke

Executive Committee

Dr. h.c. Thomas Schmidheiny,

Chairman

Markus Akermann,

Latin America and 

International Trade

Urs Bieri,

Asia Pacific and

Southern Africa

Dr. Hansueli Heé,

Central and Eastern Europe

Benoît-H. Koch,

North America, Western Europe

and the Mediterranean

Theophil H. Schlatter,

CFO

Area Managers,

CEO HMC and CEO e-zy AG2

Urs Böhlen

Jean Guillot

Paul Hugentobler

Dr. Thomas Knöpfel

Jerry C.R. Maycock

Dr. Jürg Meili, HMC

Alois Zwinggi, e-zy AG

Functions

Thomas Aebischer

Pierre F. Haesler

Christof Hässig

Roland Köhler

Roland Walker

Services

Hermann Bauert

Urs Bleisch

Jacques Bourgon 

(as of 1.7.2001)

Dr. Hans Braun

Mark Füllemann

Esther Häberling

Thomas L. Küderli

Patrick Verhagen

Dr. Stefan Wolfensberger

Group and Holding Company

Auditors

Arthur Andersen AG

Changes

The composition of the Board

and Management remained

unchanged.

Hansueli Heé/Urs Bieri/Theophil H. Schlatter/Benoît-H. Koch/Thomas Schmidheiny/Markus Akermann

1 The term of office for all Members of the Board of Directors expires on the day of the 2002 General Meeting of Shareholders.
2 The Area Managers, the CEO of “Holderbank” Management and Consulting Ltd. (HMC) and the CEO of e-zy AG 

are Deputy General Managers of “Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd.

Culture “Holderbank’s”
corporate culture will continue to 
be marked by multicultural collabo-
ration across project teams.
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Active Commitment to the Environment

When we joined the World Business Coun-

cil for Sustainable Development (WBCSD)

in 1999, it reinforced the environmental

and social awareness that the Group has

embraced for many years. As a member of

the WBCSD, we make a visible and pro-

active commitment to sustainable devel-

opment. Integrating these guiding princi-

ples into our daily work will be a high-pri-

ority task in the coming years. In addition

to continuous improvement of our own

environmental performance, membership

of the WBCSD also demands that we

actively participate in its various working

groups and forums. The aim of these 

bodies is to promote close collaboration

between companies and other organiza-

tions committed to the environment and

sustainable development.

Pioneering Cement Industry Study

In addition to our involvement in the

WBCSD’s climate and energy working

group,“Holderbank” initiated the“Towards

a Sustainable Cement Industry” project

with two industry competitors. Now

joined by eight other cement companies,

this forum represents one-third of the

world’s cement capacity. The study will as-

sess and analyze the global cement indus-

try’s status on sustainable development,

pinpoint opportunities for improvement

and develop specific recommendations for

action to be taken by the sector. With the

support of the Battelle Memorial Insti-

tute, a leading global not-for-profit re-

search and development institution, the

WBCSD has drawn up 13 individual sub-

studies for the cement industry project.

These cover the most important aspects 

of sustainable development, commonly

termed the “Triple Bottom Line”, with the

principal aim to achieve balance between

economic growth, environmental protec-

tion and social advancement. The sub-

studies deal with issues such as socio-

economic development, stakeholder dia-

logue, industrial ecology, life-cycle analy-

sis and innovation. A further sub-study

looks at the link between sustainable de-

velopment and shareholder value.

Industrial Ecology

Understanding the principles and inter-

linking aspects of industrial ecology has

grown at all levels within the Group. The

CO2 issue is one example in which the

development of a common cement indus-

try monitoring and reporting protocol on

CO2 emissions is progressing. Its purpose

is to ensure that emission data from dif-

ferent companies is comparable and pro-

vides a basis of information for further

policy development. A second main area

of focus is the use of by-products or waste

from other industries as alternatives to

the fossil fuels traditionally used in the

cement production process. The extreme-

ly high temperatures reached in cement

kilns allow our industry to make environ-

mentally efficient use of such products

and also play a major role in waste dis-

posal. Another main thrust of our envi-

ronmental policy is the increased use of

alternative raw materials. Their natural

binding properties enable us to reduce

the proportion of clinker in cement – and

thus the amount of energy we consume.

Group Initiatives Around the World

During the year 2000, our Group compa-

nies continued to promote environmental

initiatives in their own markets, thus gen-

erating valuable experience and knowl-

edge which can be multiplied throughout

the Group. As an example, an innovative

model to reduce NOx emissions has been

developed by the Swiss cement industry in

cooperation with the relevant authorities.

It proposes a voluntary agreement to limit

annual emissions but does not lay down

the measures that the industry must take

to meet this ambitious target. Meanwhile,

in Australia, Queensland Cement has in-

volved its Gladstone plant in a regional

sustainability initiative. With industry

partners, government and local commu-

nity, Queensland Cement is taking part in

a three-year trial which will gather infor-

mation and practical experience in the re-

duction of CO2 emissions. The results will

then be used to support future initiatives

nationwide. Holnam in the USA has do-

nated USD 2.5 million to the University of

Michigan over 5 years to establish a Chair

of Sustainable Industrial Ecology. The en-

dowment has been widely welcomed as

an important contribution to the training

of a new generation of environmentally

conscious business leaders. In Latin Amer-

ica, individual Group companies are very

active through National Business Councils

for Sustainable Development. Further-

more,“Holdercim” in Brazil is the first in its

industry to publish a social report. Also be-

ing promoted within the Group is the use

of slag as an addition to the cement pro-

duction process, as it is entirely compati-

ble with the principles of industrial ecol-

ogy. Alsen in Germany prepared a case

study for the WBCSD which comprehen-

sively documents the effects on the value

chain, using the example of its slag granu-

lation plant in Salzgitter.

Outlook

Our activities under the umbrella of the

WBCSD membership enable us to take

full advantage of the opportunities

offered in both environmental and social

contexts, and also help us to contribute to

sustainable development in all areas in

which we operate.

Responsibility We 
are aware of our responsibilities
towards the environment and soci-
ety. We are actively engaged in
environmental protection and appro-
priate guidelines within sensible
boundaries.

Sustainable development is
one of the six success fac-
tors that are part of our phi-
losophy. Supported by our
membership in the World
Business Council for Sus-
tainable Development, we
make an active contribu-
tion to the ongoing im-
provement of corporate
performance in the envi-
ronmental arena. For more
on this subject, please see
page 64.



With the expansion of our network
of associated companies and con-
tinued vertical integration, our
Group region Europe once
again posted excellent results in
2000.

Around the world,
Group companies ben-
efit from advisory and
support services provid-
ed by a central organi-
zation based in Switzer-
land and by an engi-
neering firm in Canada.

The year 2000 saw 
the launch of a Group-
wide project manage-
ment program. Initiat-
ed by Group manage-
ment, this campaign
aims to introduce a uni-
form and streamlined
process for implement-
ing projects. As a result
of this effort interna-
tional project teams are
able to operate with
speed and efficiency –
prerequisites for bet-
ter performance and
greater productivity.

To find out more about
the men and women
who build success,
please see page 58.
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Alcim SA

Cimentul SA

Cimus SA

Bulgaria

Beloizvorski Cement JSCo.

Macedonia

A.D. Cementarnica Usje *

Kosovo

Sharr Cement **

Greece

Aegean Terminals

Cyprus

The Cyprus Cement Company Ltd. *

Estonia

AS Kunda Nordic Tsement *

Russia

Alfa Cement JSC *

Novoross Cement JSC *

* Non-consolidated.

**  Leasing contract.

Switzerland

Eternit AG

e-zy AG

HCB – “Holderbank” Cement und Beton

“Holderbank” Management and Consulting Ltd.

Italy

Merone S.p.A.

Czech Republic

CEVA Prachovice a.s.

Slovakia

Hirocem a.s.

Austria

Cemroc BaustoffhandelsgesmbH

Hungary

Pannoncem Cementipari Rt.

Slovenia

ESAL d.o.o

Croatia

Tvornica Cementa Koromac̆no

Group

Cement plant �

Grinding plant �

Important terminal �

Participation

Cement plant �

Netherlands

Rook Beheer B.V.

Belgium

S.A. Ciments d’Obourg

France

Origny S.A.

Spain

HISALBA – Hornos Ibéricos Alba S.A.

Umar – Unión Marítima Internacional S.A.

Germany

Alsen AG

Breisgauer Cement GmbH

Consolidated net sales Eu-
rope per country in per-
cent (rounded figures), rep-
resenting 36.6 percent of
Group net sales.

At the end of 2000, the 
consolidated annual ce-
ment capacity in Group re-
gion Europe reached 32 mil-
lion tonnes. “Holderbank”
shares with partners an-
other 9 million tonnes of 
cement capacity per year.
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Economy and Construction Activity

Economic activity throughout Europe 

developed favorably, with western econ-

omies recording increases of between 

3 and 5 percent. While growth in central 

and eastern Europe was more modest

almost all the countries recorded satis-

factory figures.

Cement consumption in Group countries

in million t * 2000 ± %

Belgium 6.3 +4.8

France 20.7 +2.4

Spain 38.4 +11.0

Germany 35.0 –7.9

Switzerland 3.8 +4.2

Italy 38.0 +4.8

Czech Republic 3.6 –2.0

Slovakia 1.6 +6.7

Hungary 3.6 +12.0

Croatia 1.8 –3.0

Romania 4.3 +11.0

Bulgaria 1.4 –5.4

Total 158.5 +2.8

* “Holderbank” estimates.

Expansion in the construction sector re-

mained unchanged in Spain at a high 8

percent, while it accelerated to more than

6 percent in Belgium, France and Italy. De-

mand for cement in Spain and Belgium

was boosted by government building con-

tracts, while in France and Italy private-

sector residential construction had the

same effect.Trends in Germany’s construc-

tion sector were in contrast to the econo-

my as a whole.Tax reform eliminated fiscal

incentives for builders and caused a mas-

sive drop in construction activity in the

second half of the year. In Switzerland,

large-scale railway and road-building pro-

jects and the growing number of new

homes made for active cement sales. In the

Czech Republic, an increasing volume of

infrastructure projects lifted the construc-

tion industry after a weak first half 2000,

however, cement consumption continued

to decline. Road and residential building 

in and around Bratislava stimulated the

Slovak construction market. In Hungary,

private-sector investments determined

demand despite low volumes from the

state. Cement requirements fell in Croatia

and Bulgaria but increased markedly in 

Romania as a result of the transport net-

work maintenance and expansion pro-

gram and progress in social housing con-

struction.

Sales

Deliveries improved overall in every sector

of operation. Several companies were con-

solidated for the first time: Hirostavbet

s.r.o in Slovakia, the Hejöcsaba cement

plant and Hejöbeton Kft. in Hungary,

Cimus SA and Alcim SA in Romania and

United Quarries Ltd. in Bulgaria. The re-

sults of Amstutz AG and Sibag in Switzer-

land, AB Umwelttechnik in Germany and

the Czech Vápenka Prachovice s.r.o are no

longer included in consolidated figures.

Consolidated sales in Europe 2000 ±%

Cement and clinker in million t 24.184 +5.2

Aggregates in million t 46.510 +6.6

Concrete in million m3 12.454 +13.6

The Franco-Belgian Obourg-Origny group,

with its Dutch ready-mixed concrete and

aggregates subsidiary Rook, had another

successful year. Cement sales rose again

on the back of slightly higher demand in

France and vigorous growth in Belgium. At

6.2 million tonnes, the plants operated at

the limits of their capacity and we also

faced new logistical challenges in product

distribution. Sales of aggregates advanced

further, by 4 percent, and deliveries of

ready-mixed concrete exceeded the pre-

vious year’s high figure by 3 percent.

HISALBA in Spain recorded an impressive

performance – despite operating at virtu-

ally full capacity, the cement division suc-

ceeded in increasing output by 4 percent.

They expanded their product range by of-

fering a variety of cement types in 25-kg

bags, and sold blended cement in bags 

for the first time. The aggregates business

expanded by 5 percent, and the volume 

of ready-mixed concrete sold surged by 

18 percent to more than 3 million cubic 

meters.

The German company Alsen was affected

by a weak construction sector and record-

ed falling sales volumes for cement and 

aggregates. In Switzerland, HCB succeeded

in increasing cement deliveries once again.

It sold 2.7 million tonnes, working at high

capacity levels. The new “Gottardo” prod-

uct line was launched to coincide with 

the start of Switzerland’s NEAT transalpine 

rail project. Aggregates output grew only

slightly compared with the previous year’s

extremely positive performance, any dis-

appointment was offset by an 18 percent

surge in sales of ready-mixed concrete.The

Swiss Eternit plants had a successful year –

sales of roof tiles in particular were boost-

ed by hurricane Lothar in late December

1999. Despite increasingly tough competi-

tion from imports, Gruppo Merone sup-

plied the north Italian market with an im-

pressive 2.8 million tonnes of cement. Al-

though sales of aggregates slumped, deliv-

eries of ready-mixed concrete improved by

approximately 8 percent.

A sluggish market and considerable im-

port pressure in the Czech Republic result-

ed in a decrease in Prachovice’s domestic

sales, although deliveries of aggregates

and concrete increased. At the Slovak Hiro-

cem, higher sales in the national market

were unable to offset the loss of major ce-

ment exports to Germany. Sales figures for

the cement division therefore slipped

slightly overall, while the trend in the grav-

el sector was satisfactory and ready-mixed

concrete increased sales volumes follow-

ing the previous year’s acquisitions.

Pannoncem benefited from a recovery in

the Hungarian construction industry.

However, the higher demand attracted ris-

ing imports from the Ukraine and Russia.

The first-time consolidation of the Hejöc-

saba plant not only expanded Pannon-

cem’s sales territory but also enhanced its

product range and improved its sales net-

work. Koromačno made tentative head-

way in the weak Croatian market. Sales 

by the Usje joint venture in Macedonia

soared due to cement exports to the Koso-

vo area. The acquisitions of Cimus and Al-

cim considerably strengthened our posi-

tion in Romania in the Bucharest region

and in the northwest of the country. The

newly formed group sold over 1 million

tonnes of cement in an attractive market.

Disappointing demand for cement in 

Bulgaria dragged sales growth down at

Beloizvorski. Sales of aggregates reached

1.8 million tonnes.

International Trade

Spanish-based Umar – Unión Marítima In-

ternacional S.A., active in international ce-

ment and commodities trading and the

development and management of import

companies, followed up the previous
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year’s record figures with another impres-

sive result. Traded volumes reached an

outstanding 14 million tonnes, although

deliveries of cement and clinker decreased

by 11 percent as exports to Asia slowed.The

coordinated purchasing of petrol coke and

coal for various Group subsidiaries re-

mained a high-priority area.

In its first year under Umar manage-

ment, Nigerian import company Eastern

Bulkcem consolidated its position as mar-

ket leader by increasing its volume to 0.8

million tonnes. The West Africa group,

with companies in Guinea, Burkina Faso

and the Ivory Coast sustained the previous

year’s performance despite difficult condi-

tions. In Nicaragua, the grinding plant run

under an alliance with the Costa Rican

company Incsa kept pace with the market

and achieved a significant increase in 

cement output. Colón, in the Dominican

Republic, saw sales increase strongly, by 

47 percent, and sizably expanded its mar-

ket presence as a result. The import termi-

nals on a number of Caribbean islands 

that were acquired last year and are oper-

ated by the Venezuelan Caribe under the

“Caricement” name achieved encouraging

results and made a major contribution 

to consolidated trading activities in the 

region.

Services

Operating as a central service organiza-

tion,“Holderbank” Management and Con-

sulting Ltd. (HMC) is active in the fields of

research, engineering and consulting. It

offers problem-solving approaches to

challenges faced in all areas of the Group.

One of its primary functions is to spread

best practices, with a particular focus on

the collation, enrichment and sharing of

experience and expertise throughout

“Holderbank”. This process is supported by

a coordination and support framework for

international transfers. HMC encourages a

shared spirit of learning by means of state-

of-the-art management events and topic-

based brainstorming sessions. It promotes

the use of a common approach to project

management in the Group’s regions and is

also responsible for the rapid develop-

ment of the “Holderspace” communica-

tion platform into a group-wide network.

Financial Results

Operating results in Group region Europe

improved to CHF 540 million due to the

positive impact of former restructuring ef-

forts, further progress in cost optimization

and a favorable market climate.

Obourg-Origny kept its operating profit at

a high level, and HISALBA had another suc-

cessful year in which its operating profit

increased by 8 percent. The sharp drop in

volumes had a marked impact on Alsen’s

statement of income. HCB’s robust sales

and cost savings at all levels took its oper-

ating result 16 percent higher than the pre-

vious year. After completing a restructur-

ing program in which the company con-

centrated its production centers and fo-

cussed on its core competencies, Merone

recorded an increase in results due to at-

tractive prices. The company’s financial

position has now improved considerably.

In central and eastern Europe, operating

profits rose again at the Hungarian and

Slovak companies.

Investments

Our network of holdings in Europe grew

again. In Romania, “Holderbank” took a

majority stake in cement producers Cimus

and Alcim and thereby significantly ex-

panded its market position. As part of a

long-term leasing agreement, the Sharr

plant in Kosovo was taken over opera-

tionally. This single cement plant is close

to the Macedonian border and has a ca-

pacity of 0.6 million tonnes.

In addition, vertical integration was pur-

sued vigorously with the expansion of

concrete operations in the Netherlands,

Germany, Switzerland and Hungary.

Obourg is currently building a new pack-

ing facility to adapt handling and dispatch

procedures to customers’ needs. Invest-

ment at HISALBA focused on warehousing

at the Jerez, Carboneras and Gádor plants.

In Switzerland, HCB in Siggenthal commis-

sioned a new blending facility and mod-

ernized much of its aggregates produc-

tion. Prachovice completed the new dis-

patch plant and is now working towards

optimizing its raw materials processing.

Meanwhile, Hirocem has succeeded in

considerably reducing the customer wait-

ing time for deliveries due to significant

investments in dispatch logistics. Koro-

mačno began construction of a new raw-

grinding mill, and the Turda plant concen-

trated on renewing its distribution infra-

structure. Beloizvorski installed a modern

coal-grinding plant and opened its new

distribution center for bulk and bagged ce-

ment. The cement production pre-homog-

enization process is also being adapted.

Environment

The Group companies continued to focus

their efforts on the use of alternative fuels

and raw materials and the reduction of

emissions. Origny modernized the Héming

plant as a platform from which to expand

the supply of secondary fuels. In Spain,

HISALBA has been granted permission to

burn alternative fuels at the Jerez, Torre-

donjimeno and Gádor plants. In Germany,

Alsen reported that its pilot projects for

the use of wood offcuts and meat and

bone meal had been implemented suc-

cessfully. The Höver plant is also awaiting

authorization to reduce the use of conven-

tional fuels by half. HCB and Merone

helped to fight the Europe-wide BSE prob-

lem by burning additional quantities of

meat and bone meal in the interests of 

the general public. This safe and efficient

waste disposal is feasible due to the high

temperature in the kiln line. Koromačno

began to process fly ash from a nearby

power station, and Beloizvorski is pursuing

a strategy of energy optimization. The up-

grade or replacement of filter systems was

given high priority at all HISALBA plants,

Merone and Prachovice. The Romanian

Group company is implementing a pack-

age of environmental measures at its Tur-

da plant. A number of companies have al-

so launched projects aimed at achieving

ISO 14001 environmental accreditation.

Outlook for 2001

Economic growth is likely to slow down

slightly in western Europe, although the

sustained strength of the construction

sector leads us to expect positive perfor-

mance figures and an improvement in

earnings for this year. We anticipate par-

ticularly strong results in our markets in

central and eastern Europe, due to the 

ongoing economic recovery and growing

demand for cement. We will continue to

strive for cost savings.



Major projects – such as
planning and building
cement plants, grinding
plants and terminals –
are a welcome chal-
lenge to our highly
motivated team of men
and women.

“Holderbank’s” multi-
cultural environment
nurtures collaboration
between teams. Our
corporate culture makes
such joint efforts possi-
ble by providing clear
objectives and decision-
making authority.

To find out more about
the importance of cor-
porate culture as it re-
lates to success, please
see page 60.

Once again, the pace of con-
struction activity in Nor th
America continued unabat-
ed. To meet the demand, new and
highly efficient production facilities
are either planned or under con-
struction.
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Group

Cement plant �

Important terminal �

1 Project.

Consolidated net sales
North America per country
in percent (rounded fig-
ures), representing 21.8 per-
cent of Group net sales.

At the end of 2000, the 
consolidated annual ce-
ment capacity including
slag grinding capacity in
Group region North Amer-
ica reached 19 million
tonnes.

USA

Holnam Inc.

Canada

St. Lawrence Cement Inc.

USA

Canada
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Economy and Construction Activity

Once again, the economic data for North

America were very positive.The US economy

grew by approximately 5 percent, although

momentum began to slow down towards

the end of the year. Market forces in Canada

were also favorable with consumers and

producers alike benefiting from tax cuts and

more favorable exchange rates.

The construction sector continued to grow

at approximately the same rate as the previ-

ous year.Once again,cement and clinker – 28

million tonnes in total – had to be fed into

the US market to meet peaks in demand.

Construction in the United States was un-

derpinned by public-sector building pro-

grams. This happened despite scheduling

delays on the “TEA-21” infrastructure expan-

sion program which meant that the antici-

pated cement demand failed to materialize.

Residential construction retreated to 1997

levels as a result of interest rate hikes. This

was offset by a sharp rise in the volume of

new commercial property construction

needed to provide additional business ac-

commodation.The Canadian building indus-

try reported solid growth of 7 percent. In On-

tario, the proposed CAD 4.4 billion expan-

sion program for Toronto’s Pearson airport

gave construction activity a sustained boost.

In Quebec and the Atlantic-coast provinces,

cement consumption remained more or less

flat. However, infrastructure and industrial

projects in and around Montreal resulted in

high demand for building materials.

Cement consumption in Group countries

in million t * 2000 ± %

USA 110.5 +1.0

Canada 8.6 +7.2

Total 119.1 +1.4

* “Holderbank” estimates.

Sales

Holnam matched the previous year’s sales

with just under 15 million tonnes of cement,

slag and fly ash sold. They also doubled the

previous year’s volume of GranCem® special

binders.The company invested considerable

resources in a marketing push for high-per-

formance and low-alkali cement for special

applications. To ensure continuous supplies

to customers, Holnam imported around 3

million tonnes of cement and clinker via

Umar, the Group’s own trading company.

Most of this was sourced from Asia.

Sales in all business segments at St.

Lawrence also benefited from the favor-

able construction climate. Cement deliver-

ies rose to 4.7 million tonnes and sales 

of aggregates and ready-mixed concrete

were also much higher.

Consolidated sales in North America 2000 ±%

Cement and clinker in million t 18.733 +2.0

Aggregates in million t 14.564 +13.4

Concrete in million m3 2.276 +9.9

Financial Results

Once again North America made a sizable

contribution to consolidated operating re-

sults (CHF 423 million) despite a significant

rise in depreciation and amortization. At

Holnam, operating profit was affected by

lower prices in a number of markets and

higher costs for the distribution of bought-

in goods. Results at St. Lawrence also de-

clined as a result of higher energy prices.

Investments

Holnam put a new kiln line into operation at

the Midlothian plant in Texas in the spring

of 2000.This investment program was com-

pleted on schedule and on budget and dou-

bled the plant’s production capacity in line

with long-term demand forecasts. There

was also investment in expanding the 

Devil’s Slide plant in order to increase grind-

ing and warehousing capacity and provide 

a higher level of customer service. Con-

struction work at the Portland plant is pro-

gressing according to schedule and the 

new kiln should be operational as early as

the first half of 2001. Investment in manu-

facturing GranCem®-branded binders in 

Alabama will be completed by 2002.

The Holly Hill plant has now received all the

necessary operating licenses and construc-

tion work can now begin on a completely

new plant. In addition, Lee Island on the

Mississippi is to build a highly technically

and ecologically efficient cement plant

with a single kiln line and an annual capac-

ity of 4 million tonnes. This plant will also

have its own dock and loading facilities. Lee

Island is scheduled to go on stream in mid

2004. It should provide the ideal comple-

ment to the Clarksville plant in the same

market region, and will significantly

strengthen Holnam’s competitive position.

In the spring of 2001, St. Lawrence will open

a new cement grinding facility in Camden in

the USA. The plant will have an annual ca-

pacity of 0.5 million tonnes of granulated

blastfurnace slag and will supply customers

on the east coast of the USA. In Greenport in

New York State preparatory work for the

construction of a new cement plant contin-

ues. They are currently focusing on obtain-

ing all necessary environmental permits. In

the aggregates segment, the St. Lawrence

group began work at the Varennes quarry

on a new crusher for special gravel allowing

them to supply an attractive market niche.

St. Lawrence also acquired three cement

terminals from North Star Cement Ltd., the

only cement producer in Newfoundland

and Labrador.The three terminals, in Argen-

tia, Long Pond and Corner Box, have an 

annual market potential of up to 80,000

tonnes of cement.

St. Lawrence and Holnam joined forces 

on initiatives to further IT support for the

value chain from procurement through to

marketing. An IT service center for North

America has been set up to help achieve

this goal. They also plan to implement new

SAP-assisted processes in the near future.

These processes will reduce costs and aid

faster decision-making.

Environment

One of the main goals of Holnam’s environ-

mental program in 2000 was the reduction

of emissions.The replacement of older filter

systems at the Dundee plant allowed to

comply with new environmental regula-

tions. Holnam is also taking a leading role in

the cement industry in the CO2 debate af-

fecting the entire sector. Furthermore, Hol-

nam is currently funding the Chair of Sus-

tainable Industrial Ecology at the University

of Michigan to promote awareness among

managers of environmental issues.

St. Lawrence also intensified its efforts to re-

duce air pollution. It is installing the very lat-

est environmental technology in all of its

new plants.

Outlook for 2001

Overall, the outlook for the Group compa-

nies in North America in 2001 looks very pos-

itive.Additional production and grinding ca-

pacity will mean that Holnam can substan-

tially reduce margin-squeezing cement im-

ports resulting in higher cash flows. In Cana-

da, we expect sustained growth in the con-

struction sector which should produce an

improvement in results at St. Lawrence.



Part of our future-
driven strategies is a
series of e-commerce
initiatives. They allow
us to offer customers
faster and more flexi-
ble order processes as
well as a multitude of
additional services.

e-zy AG supports our
Group companies in
this effort. Particularly
noteworthy in Latin
America are the inno-
vative and customer-
oriented e-business
activities of Mexico’s
Apasco (DirectA®) and
Venezuela’s Cementos
Caribe (TodoCaribe).
These examples illus-
trate how a future-dri-
ven management orga-
nization contributes to
a company’s success.
See also page 62.

Latin America proved
to be the most significant contributor
to the Group’s operating profit for
the reporting period. Particularly
noteworthy are the excellent results
obtained in Mexico, Brazil and the
Caribbean.
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Mexico

Apasco S.A. de C.V.

Guatemala

Cementos Progreso S.A. *

El Salvador

Cemento de El Salvador S.A. de C.V. *

Honduras

Cementos del Norte S.A. de C.V. *

Nicaragua

Cemenic S.A. *

Nicacem S.A. *

Costa Rica

Grupo Incsa-PC

Panama

Cementos Panama *

Haiti

Ciments de Haiti *

Dominican Republic

Cementos Colón S.A. *

Other Caribbean Islands

“Caricement” *

Colombia

Cementos Boyacá S.A.

Venezuela

Cementos Caribe C.A.

French Guiana

Ciments Guyanais *

Ecuador

La Cemento Nacional C.A.

Peru

Cementos Norte Pacasmayo S.A. *

Brazil

“Holdercim” Brasil S.A.

Argentina

Juan Minetti S.A.

Chile

Cemento Polpaico S.A.

* Non-consolidated.

Group

Cement plant �

Grinding plant �

Important terminal �

Participation

Cement plant �

Grinding plant �

Important terminal �

1 Project.

Mexico

Costa Rica

Colombia

Venezuela

Ecuador

Brazil

Argentina

Chile

Consolidated net sales Latin
America per country in per-
cent (rounded figures), rep-
resenting 25.8 percent of
Group net sales.

At the end of 2000, the 
consolidated annual ce-
ment capacity in Group re-
gion Latin America reached
29 million tonnes. “Holder-
bank” shares with partners
another 8 million tonnes of 
cement capacity per year.
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Economy and Construction Activity

Latin America confirmed its leading posi-

tion among the world’s emerging mar-

kets. Mexico displayed great political

maturity with the democratic transition

to the new government. Economic

growth in Mexico continued to be driven

by industry and close trade relations

within NAFTA.

While Central America and much of the

Caribbean achieved positive growth due

to the strong US economy, results in the

Andes were mixed. In Venezuela higher

oil revenues were unable to stimulate

growth. The main reasons for this were a

lack of foreign investment and a strong

Bolivar, which damaged competitiveness

on export markets. Ecuador emerged

from the introduction of the dollar in

excellent shape and the country’s econo-

my became visibly stronger with the sup-

port of the IMF, international develop-

ment banks and rising oil prices. In con-

trast, Colombia is going through its most

serious crisis in 70 years. The slow-moving

peace process and the halt to public-sec-

tor financial reforms continue to obstruct

a sustained recovery. In the south, Brazil

made strong gains with a return to

growth due to increased industrial output

and a more relaxed monetary policy. The

recession in Argentina appears to be flat-

tening. Chile saw a mainly export-driven

increase in economic activity in the sec-

ond half of the year.

Market dynamics shaped the develop-

ment of Mexico’s construction sector and

increased demand for cement to a record

30 million tonnes. In Costa Rica, however,

cement consumption weakened tem-

porarily due to subdued public sector

investments. A similar situation exists in

Venezuela where the building industry

was going to depend on government con-

tracts that failed to materialize. In con-

trast, Ecuador recorded double-digit

growth. This growth was triggered by

increased residential construction and a

number of infrastructure projects which

boosted demand for building materials

particularly in the coastal region. Con-

struction in Colombia remained weak and

falling private incomes in Brazil led to a

decline in sales of bagged cement. In

Argentina, the cement market collapsed

due to the lack of either state or private

investors. Although cement consumption

in Chile rose by 10 percent, the advance

was far below the forecasts made at the

beginning of the year.

Cement consumption in Group countries

in million t * 2000 ± %

Mexico 29.8 +8.4

Costa Rica 1.1 –4.1

Colombia 5.3 +5.3

Venezuela 4.1 +1.3

Ecuador 2.8 +16.7

Brazil 39.3 –1.8

Argentina 6.0 –15.0

Chile 3.4 +10.4

Total 91.8 +1.8

* “Holderbank” estimates.

Sales

Sales figures in Group region Latin Ameri-

ca were again impressive. Particularly

sharp increases were recorded for ready-

mixed concrete and aggregates.

Consolidated sales in Latin America 2000 ± %

Cement and clinker in million t 19.166 –0.8

Aggregates in million t 12.515 +11.1

Concrete in million m3 7.185 +15.7

Apasco benefited from the favorable eco-

nomic climate in Mexico and expanded

domestic sales. A nationwide campaign

was run to launch a new mortar product,

and electronic product sales via DirectA®
also increased. Apasco opened additional

sales support centers in northwestern

Mexico to increase customer service. All

plants now hold quality accreditations in

accordance with ISO 9002. The output of

aggregates rose by 8 percent due to favor-

able market conditions while ready-

mixed concrete volumes increased by an

above-average 13 percent as the reactiva-

tion of major infrastructure projects trig-

gered considerable additional demand.

Cement deliveries in Costa Rica settled

back slightly from the high level of 

the previous year. Overall sales of 

gravel remained steady. However, busi-

ness in ready-mixed concrete deteriorat-

ed sharply due to the lack of major con-

struction projects.

“Holderbank” has an extensive network

of shareholdings in Central America and

the Caribbean. Our partner companies

recorded total sales of 3 million tonnes 

of cement due to political stability 

and active growth in construction 

markets.

The Colombian Boyacá group succeeded

in increasing sales by 5 percent in an

adverse market. Aggregates and ready-

mixed concrete also made significant

gains. Cement deliveries by the Venezue-

lan Cementos Caribe slumped as domes-

tic sales stagnated as a result of the cur-

rency-related drop in exports. Sales activ-

ities should benefit from the successful

launch of the interactive, Internet-based

TodoCaribe customer service involving 50

major customers. Sales of aggregates

surged with the expansion of existing

and the commissioning of new quarries.

Ready-mixed concrete also displayed a

positive trend. In Ecuador, La Cemento

Nacional achieved a significant increase

in delivery volumes for cement and con-

crete as construction activity made

progress despite continually challenging

conditions.

In Brazil, “Holdercim” maintained its pow-

erful position in the market in the south-

east of the country. Cement deliveries

reached 3.5 million tonnes while aggre-

gates grew by an encouraging 5 percent.

Ready-mixed concrete increased by

almost 30 percent in a very active market

due to the first-time consolidation of the

previous year’s investments. Minetti, in

Argentina, unwaveringly pursued its for-

ward-looking program of integration and

restructuring and recorded both organi-

zational and operational progress. The

sharp drop in cement sales was due exclu-

sively to weak economic activity and

tough competition. The successful start

of a new cement grinding plant at Cam-

pana, near Buenos Aires, enabled Minetti

to expand its range of blended cement

products and become one of the leaders

in its field. In Chile, Cemento Polpaico

improved cement production by 10 per-

cent to a superb 1.2 million tonnes, while

the consolidation of a new company 

produced a 20 percent rise in aggregate

output. In volume terms, sales of ready-

mixed concrete remained unchanged.

Financial Results

Extraordinarily positive results from a

number of Group companies maintained

the strength of the Latin America Group

region. Consolidated operating profit
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increased by 43 percent to an impressive

CHF 835 million.

Results from Apasco and “Holdercim”

Brasil were excellent. The success of both

companies was due to an increase in vol-

umes at Apasco and lower expenditure

despite the higher costs of geothermal

energy. Boyacá’s financial results exceed-

ed 1999 figures due to a combination of

higher sales and an outstanding cost

structure. La Cemento Nacional also pro-

duced encouraging results despite diffi-

cult market conditions. Cemento Pol-

paico’s financial reports reflect increased

delivery volumes in addition to more effi-

cient production and distribution.

While Grupo Incsa-PC and Cementos

Caribe almost managed to match the pre-

vious year’s results, Minetti in Argentina

suffered from a disappointing demand for

cement. Despite continuing progress in

its administration and operations, Minet-

ti suffered from plunging volumes and

increased restructuring costs which cut

deep into its 2000 results.

Investments

Our Central American cluster was forti-

fied once again with the acquisition of a

shareholding in Cementos Progreso in

Guatemala and the takeover of Cementos

Panama as part of a joint venture with

the Colombian Cementos del Caribe.

These deals give “Holderbank” access to

approximately 4 million additional

tonnes of cement capacity. The holdings

will enable us to further optimize our

already extensive regional network in

many attractive markets. A new holding

company has been established to look

after the interests of all our Central Amer-

ican participations.

Apasco is building a second kiln line at

the Ramos Arizpe plant to increase pro-

duction capacity. Investment costs for the

project are low and it will double the

plant’s output to 2.5 million tonnes of

cement. Work also began on a preliminary

processing and grinding plant to burn

petrol coke and coal. In Ecuador, La

Cemento Nacional will strengthen its

presence in the highlands with a new 

0.6 million tonne-capacity cement grind-

ing plant. The spring of 2001 will see a

new grinding facility commissioned at

“Holdercim” Brasil’s Cantagalo plant.

Cementos Caribe and Boyacá joined

forces to develop new SAP solutions and

e-sales activities and both companies are

benefiting from the introduction of a

common management structure.

To achieve national coverage of the

Chilean market, Cemento Polpaico has

started work on the construction of a

cement grinding plant at Mejillones in

the north of the country. Investment at

Minetti focused on the new grinding sta-

tion in Campana. Minetti’s Jujuy plant

and Grupo Incsa-PC’s Cartago plant have

created new distribution centers that will

enable customer deliveries to be handled

more efficiently. Work on the new cement

grinding plant in Haiti also progressed

rapidly. In Guatemala, the completion of a

further expansion phase will increase

Cementos Progreso’s cement capacity to 3

million tonnes. Finally, Cemento de El Sal-

vador completed its project to increase

production capacity to 1.6 million tonnes.

Environment

Our considerable endeavors towards sus-

tainable development continued undi-

minished. Almost all Group companies

are pursuing projects which will increase

the use of alternative fuels and raw mate-

rials in the production process. At its

Nobsa plant, for example, Boyacá has

installed the laboratory equipment

required to analyze alternative fuels and

approve them for burning. “Holdercim’s”

Pedro Leopoldo plant was the first

cement factory in the country to be cer-

tificated to ISO 14001. With regard to

emissions, Cementos Caribe installed an

electrical filter at its Cumarebo plant and

Cemento Polpaico upgraded the filter sys-

tem at its Cerro Blanco plant.

Outlook for 2001

After an excellent business year in 2000,

we expect Latin America to contribute

stable high-level results. Performance will

be stimulated by the generally positive

economic climate and easier access to

international credit markets.



Efforts continue in all
Group companies to
optimize production
processes in terms of
emissions. Morocco’s
CIOR, for example,
began the process of
ISO 9002 and ISO 14001
certification.

In the final analysis,
sustainable develop-
ment means to careful-
ly manage non-renew-
able resources. Find out
more about this suc-
cess factor on page 64.

Traditionally, Africa and the
Middle East are marked by
very diverse trends and economic
developments. Excellent results were
posted in Morocco, South Africa and
Egypt.
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Morocco

CIOR – Les Ciments de l’Oriental S.A.

Guinea

Ciments de Guinée

Ivory Coast

Société Ivorienne de Ciments et Matériaux

Burkina Faso

Société Burkinabe de Ciments et Matériaux

Nigeria

Eastern Bulkcem Co. Ltd. *

Namibia

Alpha (Pty) Limited

Group

Cement plant �

Grinding plant �

Important terminal �

Participation

Cement plant �

Grinding plant �

Important terminal �

1 Project.

Morocco

Guinea

Ivory Coast

Burkina Faso

Namibia

South Africa

Tanzania

Madagascar

La Réunion

Egypt

Lebanon

Consolidated net sales Af-
rica Middle East per country
in percent (rounded fig-
ures), representing 7.8 per-
cent of Group net sales.

At the end of 2000, the 
consolidated annual ce-
ment capacity in Group re-
gion Africa Middle East
reached 13 million tonnes.
“Holderbank” shares with
partners another 3 million
tonnes of cement capacity
per year.

South Africa

Alpha (Pty) Limited

Tanzania

Tanga Cement Company Ltd.

Madagascar

Macoma

La Réunion

Macoré

Egypt

Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E.

Palaestina

Palestinian Cement Company *

Lebanon

Société des Ciments Libanais SAL

* Non-consolidated.
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Economy and Construction Activity

The economies of African countries in

which the Group operates experienced

varying fortunes in the period under

review. Morocco suffered from a persis-

tent drought which affected activity, and

the economies of West African countries

were stagnant. In contrast, positive

growth was seen in Madagascar and La

Réunion. In South Africa investment activ-

ity remained sluggish. However, in Egypt

optimism over economic prospects

remained high enabling the country to

achieve satisfactory growth rates. The

Egyptian government slowed an over-

active construction sector causing a slight

decline in cement deliveries. Lebanon

appeared to be moving into recession as a

consequence of the political situation and

the government’s tight budgetary poli-

cies.

Cement consumption in Group countries

in million t * 2000 ± %

Morocco 7.5 +3.4

West Africa 1.8 +0.2

Madagascar, La Réunion 0.8 +7.8

South Africa 9.0 +0.1

Tanzania 1.3 –

Egypt 26.5 –4.3

Lebanon 2.7 –7.0

Total 49.6 –2.0

* “Holderbank” estimates.

Sales

The scope of consolidation experienced a

significant expansion in 2000, with the

first-time quota consolidation of Egyptian

Cement in the second half of the year.

“Holderbank” now owns 44 percent of this

company. On the other hand, the Lebanese

aggregates sector left the Group.

The Moroccan company CIOR increased

its cement deliveries by 5 percent and

increased its market share. It also per-

formed very well in the concrete market,

with a rise of over 30 percent.

Consolidated cement sales in West Africa

remained at approximately the same

level as the previous year. SICM saw a

decline in domestic deliveries as a result

of instability in Ivory Coast; however, this

loss in volume was more than offset by

higher exports to Mali. Cement imports

surged in Burkina Faso forcing CIMAT to

temporarily suspend production. The

Group’s Umar-controlled Guinean compa-

ny managed to stabilize its cement deliv-

eries at 1999 levels. Sales remained strong

in Nigeria.

The extensive restructuring and rational-

ization measures adopted over the past

few years have had a positive and lasting

effect on Alpha (Pty) Limited. It is now

stronger and more efficient. However,

poor weather conditions in the first half

of the year meant that cement deliveries

dropped but recovered well in the second

half. Increased exports to neighbouring

countries were a significant success fac-

tor for Alpha in 2000.

Our Group companies in Madagascar and

La Réunion also did well due to the rising

demand for cement.

Egyptian Cement sold its entire output of

3.4 million tonnes in 2000. It also rapidly

acquired prominent market positions as a

result of its cost advantage and techno-

logical progress by the company.

Ciments Libanais was again affected by

the sluggish state of the construction

industry. However, it managed to improve

its share of the domestic market and

break into new export markets.

Consolidated sales in Africa Middle East 2000 ±%

Cement and clinker in million t 9.798 +31.2

Aggregates in million t 9.161 –30.9

Concrete in million m3 1.683 +1.8

Financial Results

Consolidated net proceeds from sales in

the Africa Middle East region rose by 14.5

percent to CHF 1.1 billion in the year 2000,

with operating profit at CHF 152 million.

The main contributors to the increased

sales were our Group companies in South

Africa, Morocco, La Réunion and Madagas-

car, the cement segment of our Lebanese

operations, and Egyptian Cement, which

was consolidated for the first time. The

operating profits of Alpha (Pty) Limited

and CIOR showed a noticeable improve-

ment with Ciments Libanais also making

substantial progress – the company has

been able to achieve a lasting reduction

in overhead. However, our West African

companies suffered from the difficult

economic conditions in the region. Their

contribution to the Group’s operating

profit was down as a result of the overall

decline in prices and rising world market

prices for imported clinker. Once again

Madagascar and La Réunion performed

well with both companies achieving high-

er volumes and cost savings.

Egyptian Cement submitted a financial

statement based on a full year’s trading for

the first time. Net profit was doubled due

to higher output. A program aimed at cut-

ting production costs has recently been

launched in an attempt to obtain further

synergies from the three identical kiln

lines. The company hopes that this will

trigger a sharp rise in earnings.

Investments 

Group companies made a number of

investments aimed at maintaining assets

and remaining competitive. For example,

the kiln shell on the number 2 line at the

Dudfield plant was replaced within bud-

get and more quickly than planned.

Egyptian Cement is currently installing a

fourth kiln line, which should come on

stream in 2002.

Environment

Sustainable use of natural resources

remains a key priority. CIOR is about to

start maintenance work on two filter sys-

tems at the Oujda plant following inten-

sive planning. The Fès plant has modified

its production process to enable it to use

alternative fuels, and the Ras El Ma plant

is expected to obtain ISO 9002 and ISO

14001 certification by the middle of 2001.

Egyptian Cement has been gradually

introducing the latest environmental

technologies as part of its capacity

expansion. Ciments Libanais has also

been undertaking studies on the use of

alternative fuels.

Outlook for 2001

Overall sales in this Group region are

expected to rise due to the positive eco-

nomic prospects of many of the countries

in which the Group operates. Together

with ongoing efforts to cut costs, this will

have a favorable impact on the region’s

financial performance.



Those who recognize
trends and develop-
ments at an early stage
are able to seize oppor-
tunities not perceived
by others. In Asia, for
example, our timing
was right when we
took positions which
have become financial-
ly rewarding.

To find out how greater
financial success pro-
vides for other activi-
ties, please see page
66.

With the consolidation of our 
investment in Thailand, Asia
Pacific gained further ground.
In fact, the region as a whole made
good progress.
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“Garadagh” Cement J.S.C.

Uzbekistan

AO Akhangarancement *

Sri Lanka

Puttalam Cement Company Ltd.

Ruhunu Cement Company Ltd.

Bangladesh

Hyundai Cement (Bangladesh) Co., Ltd. *

Thailand

Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited 

Malaysia

Tenggara Cement Manufacturing Sdn Bhd

Group

Cement plant �

Grinding plant �

Important terminal �

Participation

Cement plant �

Grinding plant �

Important terminal �

Azerbaijan

Sri Lanka

Thailand

Malaysia

Singapore

Vietnam

Philippines

Australia

New Zealand

New Caledonia

Consolidated net sales Asia
Pacific per country in per-
cent (rounded figures), rep-
resenting 8.0 percent of
Group net sales.

At the end of 2000, the 
consolidated annual ce-
ment capacity in Group re-
gion Asia Pacific reached 17
million tonnes. “Holder-
bank” shares with partners
another 20 million tonnes
of cement capacity per year.

As
ia

 P
ac

ifi
c

44 45

Singapore

National Cement Industry Pte Ltd. *

Indonesia

PT Semen Cibinong Tbk * 

Vietnam

Morning Star Cement Ltd.

China

Huaxin Cement Company Ltd. *

Suzhou Golden Cat Cement Ltd. *

Philippines

Alsons Cement Corporation

Union Cement Corporation *

Australia

Queensland Cement Ltd.

New Zealand

Milburn New Zealand Ltd.

New Caledonia

Ciments de Numbo

Fiji

Fiji Industries Ltd.

* Non-consolidated.
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Economy and Construction Activity

Overall, the ASEAN economies were very

positive in 2000. Most countries in this

vast region experienced a gradual recov-

ery, posting growth rates of between 4

and 7 percent. However, the underlying

political conditions have not improved.

Once again, China reported impressive

macroeconomic figures, however, coun-

tries in the Pacific region saw a decline in

economic activity.

Cement consumption in Group countries

in million t * 2000 ± %

Azerbaijan 0.8 –1.4

Sri Lanka 2.6 +7.6

Thailand 18.9 +1.7

Vietnam 14.0 +25.0

Malaysia 11.9 +26.0

Philippines 12.0 –2.4

Australia 7.1 +3.0

New Zealand 1.1 –

New Caledonia 0.1 –

Total 68.5 +9.3

* “Holderbank” estimates.

Several features of the construction mar-

kets appear positive. Tax breaks boosted

private residential construction in Sri

Lanka, leading to a sharp rise in demand

for cement. The increase in government

regional spending and the extension of

work on a number of large infrastructure

projects in Thailand helped the construc-

tion sector. The main impetus behind the

impressive rise in cement consumption in

Vietnam came from the new construction

law which stimulated private residential

construction. Other factors such as road-

building projects and other infrastructure

activities were also responsible for the

increase in cement consumption. Major

public and private initiatives were behind

the surge in building activity in Malaysia.

The construction sector in the Philippines

fell back slightly as a result of political

uncertainties and a tighter budgetary

policy. The Australian construction indus-

try saw a slight rise in activity despite

higher interest rates and new fiscal legis-

lation. Finally, construction activity in

New Zealand, New Caledonia and Azer-

baijan was affected by the contracting

economies in these countries.

Sales

The impressive rise in consolidated ce-

ment deliveries is due in part to the in-

creased demand position, but mainly to

the expansion of the scope of consolida-

tion. Siam City Cement (Public) Company

Limited has been quota consolidated in

the Group’s accounts for the first time.

“Garadagh” Cement in Azerbaijan has also

been consolidated in this Group region for

the first time. On the other hand, there

have been some departures from the

Group including Naga Cement in Cambo-

dia – its sales activities have been taken

over by the Thai company Siam City Ce-

ment – and the Kiwalan plant in the Philip-

pines. Aggregate sales were slightly down

from the period of the previous year, but all

companies involved in ready-mixed con-

crete deliveries posted a rise in that activi-

ty. It should however be borne in mind that

these results include deliveries by Siam

City Cement consolidated for the first

time.

Consolidated sales in Asia Pacific 2000 ±%

Cement and clinker in million t 11.654 +75.5

Aggregates in million t 3.833 –2.5

Concrete in million m3 1.302 +49.7

“Garadagh” Cement managed to increase

its volume of deliveries by more than 10

percent and thereby gain market share

despite a declining overall market and

continued pressure from imports. Our Sri

Lankan Group companies also achieved

good sales figures. They have worked to

streamline their distribution structure.

This led to a better-focused market posi-

tioning and triggered a number of syner-

gies. This market is still extremely com-

petitive, with high pressure from imports,

particularly from India. Cement sales by

Siam City Cement fell by 6 percent in a

slowly growing domestic market. The

main reason for this was a demand-led

decline in export trade, where margins

are narrow. Morning Star in Vietnam had

a highly satisfactory performance in 2000

with volume up by 25 percent. As a result

the capacity utilization rates at the Hon

Chong and Cat Lai production plants also

improved significantly. The Tenggara

cement grinding plant reported encour-

aging production figures due to the

strong rise in Malaysian demand.

The Philippines-based company Alsons

has been operating in an extremely diffi-

cult macroeconomic climate. Union

Cement, in which “Holderbank” holds a

minority stake, has also been dealing

with hostile market conditions and has

suffered a slight downturn in volume as a

result.

Demand for cement in the state of

Queensland was down slightly in contrast

to the national trend. This resulted in a 5

percent drop in sales by Queensland

Cement in this sector, however, the com-

pany was able to offset this to some

extent by higher sales of ready-mixed

concrete and aggregates. Both Milburn

New Zealand and Ciments de Numbo held

their positions in flat markets.

Financial Results

The main feature of the year 2000 for the

Group region Asia Pacific was a recovery in

operating profit to CHF 97 million. Rising

cement consumption and rationalization

were beneficial factors in some markets.

However, the enormous pressure of com-

petition and the unsatisfactory price lev-

els in many countries remain key obstacles

to growth. Puttalam in Sri Lanka was af-

fected by the high costs of restructuring

and increased financial expenditure. Siam

City Cement performed well, with operat-

ing profit boosted by excellent production

figures. A satisfactory improvement in re-

sults was shown by Morning Star Cement

due to a significant expansion in market

volume and more efficient plant opera-

tions. Tenggara Cement showed an im-

provement in performance in 2000. After

the difficulties of the previous year, Alsons

reported improved operating result. The

operating profits of the Group companies

in Australia and New Zealand were down

due to weaker demand and the resulting

fall in capacity utilization.

Investments

“Holderbank” has created a future-orient-

ed regional structure over the past few

years through its strategy of continual 

expansion and gradual strengthening of

existing market positions. In line with this

strategy, further investments were made

in the year 2000 to complete the picture.

As part of this activity, “Holderbank” ac-

quired a large grinding plant in Bangla-

desh. The plant consists of two cement

mills with a capacity of 0.4 million tonnes,
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and it is currently being expanded. This ac-

quisition will facilitate the supply of addi-

tional clinker volume to other Group com-

panies in the region. “Holderbank” has 

increased its holding in Siam City Cement

to 33.3 percent as part of that company’s 

financial restructuring program. A number

of replacement investment projects are

worthy mentioning: “Garadagh” in Azer-

baijan is in the process of rehabilitating a

cement mill, and a number of smaller in-

vestments have increased the Puttalam

plant’s clinker capacity by 15 percent.

Environment

The principal activities in the year under

review concern emission reductions and

initiatives for the combustion of alterna-

tive fuels and raw materials. For example,

Union Cement has started using a petro-

leum coke preparation and grinding plant,

and the Davao plant has received ISO envi-

ronmental certification. Queensland Ce-

ment has started using old tires as a com-

bustion fuel at its Gladstone plant. Morn-

ing Star in Vietnam is investigating alter-

native raw materials with a view to in-

creasing its in-house production capacity.

Outlook for 2001

Economic trends in the current year are

likely to vary from country to country

within this Group region. The cement

markets in Azerbaijan, Sri Lanka, Vietnam

and Malaysia should benefit from the

dynamic construction market in their

regions. However, demand for construc-

tion materials is expected to remain at

current levels in Thailand, the Philippines

and the Pacific. Overall, most Group com-

panies expect to achieve better operating

results due to tighter cost management.
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S.A. Ciments d’Obourg, Belgium

Chief executive: Bernard Kueng

Personnel: 1,827 

Production capacity: 2.8 million t of cement

Obourg plant

Shareholdings:

Cantillana group

Ciments de Haccourt SA

Haccourt grinding plant

Gralex SA

Hellings N.V.

Inter-Béton SA

Obourg Granulats S.A.

Scoribel SA

Bos & Zoon, Netherlands

Rook Beheer B.V., Netherlands

Origny S.A.,  France

Chief executive: Bernard Kueng

Personnel: 1,762 

Production capacity: 4.2 million t of cement

Altkirch plant

Dannes plant

Héming plant

Lumbres plant

Rochefort plant

Ebange grinding plant

Shareholdings:

ORSA Bétons

ORSA Granulats
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HISALBA – Hornos Ibéricos Alba S.A.,  Spain

Chief executive: Saverio A. Banchini

Personnel: 1,470 

Production capacity: 4.2 million t of cement

Carboneras plant

Gádor plant

Jerez plant

Lorca plant

Torredonjimeno plant

Shareholdings:

Áridos “HAT” S.L.

HAT Hormigones S.A.

HATMIX S.A.

Umar – Unión Marítima Internacional S.A., Spain

Chief executive: Joaquín Villanueva

Personnel: 42

Alsen AG, Germany

Chief executive: Karl Gernandt

Personnel: 1,622

Production capacity: 3.2 million t of cement

Höver plant

Lägerdorf plant

Rostock plant (terminal)

Salzgitter plant

Hansa grinding plant

Hardegsen grinding plant

Shareholdings:

Baustoff-Kontor GmbH

Dresdner Beton-Union GmbH

Dresdner Speditions- und 
Abfertigungsgesellschaft mbH

Hannoversche Silo-Gesellschaft mbH

Lusit-Ost Betonelemente GmbH

SBU Sandwerke Dresden GmbH & Co. KG

TBG Nord-Beton GmbH & Co. KG

Zuhr & Köllner GmbH
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HCB – “Holderbank” Cement und Beton, Switzerland

Chief executive: Leo Mittelholzer

Personnel: 1,539

Production capacity: 2.9 million t of cement

Brunnen plant

Eclépens plant

Siggenthal plant

Thayngen plant

Untervaz plant

Morbio grinding plant

Lorüns grinding plant, Austria

Shareholdings:

AG Hunziker & Cie

BBH Baubedarf Holding AG

BFGS SA

Georoc AG

Kieswerk Hauser AG

Kieswerk Hüntwangen AG

Niederberger AG

VKW AG

“Holderbank” Management and Consulting Ltd.,

Switzerland

Chief executive: Jürg Meili

Personnel: 582

Sector company:

“Holderbank” Engineering Canada Ltd.

Merone S.p.A.,  Italy

Chief executive: Carlo Gervasoni

Personnel: 572

Production capacity: 3.4 million t of cement

Merone plant

Ternate plant

Morano grinding plant

Shareholdings:

Eurofuels

Finbeton S.p.A.

Inerti Holding Srl

■
■

■
■
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Breisgauer Cement GmbH, Germany

Chief executive: Urs Kern (as of 1.1.2001)

Personnel: 120

Production capacity: 0.6 million t of cement

Geisingen plant

Kleinkems grinding plant

Shareholdings:

Geisinger Kalkstein Schotterwerk

HM Transportbeton GmbH & Co. KG

Hupfer GmbH

SUL Siloumschlag + Logistik GmbH

TBM-Transportbeton Mittelbaden

Eternit AG, Switzerland

Chief executive: Anders Holte

Personnel: 633

Niederurnen plant

Payerne plant

Shareholdings:

Etertub AG

Promat AG

ESAL d.o.o, Slovenia

e-zy AG, Switzerland

Chief executive: Alois Zwinggi

Personnel: 25

CEVA Prachovice a.s.,  Czech Republic

Chief executive: Jan Hamr

Personnel: 572

Production capacity: 1.4 million t of cement

Prachovice plant

Shareholdings:

Ekocem Praha s.r.o

KAPO Prachovice s.r.o

Lom Klecany s.r.o

Pískovna Dobříň a.s.

Transbeton IPS s.r.o

Transbeton Mosty s.r.o

Transportbeton Pardubice a.s.

Transportcement Prachovice s.r.o

Hirocem a.s.,  Slovakia

Chief executive: Zoltán Demján

Personnel: 1,026

Production capacity: 2.1 million t of cement

Banská Bystrica plant

Rohožník plant

Shareholdings:

ASO Spol s.r.o

B & W Auslandsbeteiligung GmbH

Hirostavbet s.r.o

Slovbetón s.r.o

Transportcement Bratislava

Cemroc BaustoffhandelsgesmbH, Austria

Pannoncem Cementipari Rt.,  Hungary

Chief executive: Lászlo Panyi

Personnel: 936

Production capacity: 1.8 million t of cement

Hejöcsaba plant

Lábatlan plant

Shareholding:

Transbeton AG

Tvornica Cementa Koroma čno, Croatia

Chief executive: Walter Fischer

Personnel: 249

Production capacity: 0.6 million t of cement

Koromačno plant

Shareholding:

Resnik Beton

Breitenburger Romania s.r.l . ,  Romania

Chief executive: Kurt Habersatter

Personnel: 2,332

Production capacity: 4.0 million t of cement

Shareholdings:

Alcim SA

Alesd plant

Cimentul SA

Turda plant

Cimus SA

Cimpulung plant

Bulgarcem Holding GmbH, Austria

Chief executive: Todor Kostov

Personnel: 921

Production capacity: 0.6 million t of cement

Shareholdings:

Beloizvorski Cement JSCo., Bulgaria

Beloizvorski plant

United Quarries Ltd., Bulgaria
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“Holdercim” Brasil  S.A.,  Brazil

Chief executive: Martin F. Altorfer

Personnel: 1,661

Production capacity: 5.2 million t of cement

Barroso plant 

Cantagalo plant 

Pedro Leopoldo plant 

Sorocaba grinding plant 

Vitória grinding plant

Concretex

Pedreiras Cantareira

Juan Minetti S.A.,  Argentina

Chief executive: Carlos Bühler

Personnel: 1,106 

Production capacity: 5.0 million t of cement

Capdeville plant

Malagueño plant 

Puerto Viejo plant

Yocsina plant

Campana grinding plant 

Panquehua grinding plant 

Shareholdings:

Canteras Malagueño S.A.

Hormix / Hormigonera Central

Transmix / Hormex

Cemento Polpaico S.A.,  Chile

Chief executive: Andreas K. Heusler

Personnel: 1,153 

Production capacity: 2.5 million t of cement

Cerro Blanco plant

Coronel grinding plant 

Shareholdings:

Multicret S.A.

Pétreos S.A.

Transportes Cerro Blanco Ltda.
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Apasco S.A. de C.V.,  Mexico

Chief executive: Pierre A. Froidevaux

Personnel: 2,956

Production capacity: 9.0 million t of cement

Shareholdings:

Cementos Apasco S.A. de C.V.

Acapulco plant

Apaxco plant 

Macuspana plant 

Orizaba plant

Ramos Arizpe plant

Tecomán plant

Concretos Apasco S.A. de C.V.

Gravasa S.A. de C.V.

Grupo Incsa-PC, Costa Rica

Chief executive: Jean Pierre Ratton

Personnel: 915

Production capacity: 0.8 million t of cement

Shareholdings:

Cementos Incsa S.A.

Cartago plant

Concretera Nacional S.A.

Hidroeléctrica Aguas Zarcas S.A.

Productos de Concreto S.A.

Quebradores Cerro Minas S.A.

Quebrador Ochomogo S.A.

Holnam Inc.,  USA

Chief executive: Paul A. Yhouse

Personnel: 2,492 

Production capacity: 15.1 million t of cement

Ada plant

Artesia plant

Clarksville plant

Devil’s Slide plant

Dundee plant

Fort Collins plant

Holly Hill plant 

Mason City plant 

Portland plant 

Theodore plant

Trident plant 

GranCem Chicago

GranCem Weirton

Shareholding:

Holnam Texas Limited Partnership

Midlothian plant

St. Lawrence Cement Inc.,  Canada

Chief executive: Patrick Dolberg

Personnel: 2,661

Production capacity: 4.2 million t of cement

Joliette plant

Mississauga plant

Shareholdings:

Boehmers group

Demix group

Dufferin group

Euclid Admixture Canada Inc.

Pozzolanic International Inc., USA

St. Lawrence Cement, USA

Catskill plant

Hagerstown plant

Cementos Boyacá S.A.,  Colombia

Chief executive: Bernard Terver

Personnel: 845

Production capacity: 1.7 million t of cement

Nobsa plant

Shareholdings:

Concretos Premezclados S.A.

Ingeniesa S.A.

Cementos Caribe C.A.,  Venezuela

Chief executive: Bernard Terver

Personnel: 601

Production capacity: 2.4 million t of cement

Cumarebo plant 

San Sebastián plant

Shareholdings:

Agregados Caribe C.A.

Premezclados Caribe C.A.

Yesos del Golfo C.A.

La Cemento Nacional C.A.,  Ecuador

Chief executive: Patrick Bredthauer

Personnel: 1,262

Production capacity: 2.3 million t of cement

Shareholdings:

Rocacem S.A.

Cerro Blanco plant 

San Eduardo plant

Agregados Rocafuerte S.A.

Productos Rocafuerte S.A.

Cementos Norte Pacasmayo S.A., Peru

Pacasmayo plant
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CIOR – Les Ciments de l’Oriental S.A.,  Morocco

Chief executive: Youssef Ennadifi

Personnel: 655 

Production capacity: 2.9 million t of cement

Oujda plant 

Ras El Ma plant 

Doukkarat grinding plant

Nador grinding plant 

Shareholdings:

Ciments Blancs du Maroc

Ecobéton S.A.

Limed S.A.

Alpha (Pty) Limited, South Africa

Chief executive: Mike M. Doyle

Personnel: 2,222 

Production capacity: 3.4 million t of cement

Dudfield plant

Ulco plant

Roodepoort grinding plant 

Alpha Stone and Readymix

Shareholdings:

Natal Portland Cement (Pty) Ltd.

Simuma plant

Omnia Holdings Ltd.

Tanga Cement Company Ltd., Tanzania

Tanga plant 

Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E.,  Egypt

Chief executive: Nassef Sawiris

Personnel: 902

Production capacity: 5.2 million t of cement

El Sukhna plant

Société des Ciments Libanais SAL, Lebanon

Chief executive: Dominique Drouet

Personnel: 413

Production capacity: 1.7 million t of cement

Chekka plant

Shareholdings:

Holderchem Building Chemicals SAL

Société Libanaise des Ciments Blancs

Société Libanaise pour le Béton (SOLIBE)

“Garadagh” Cement J.S.C.,  Azerbaijan

Chief executive: David Stone

Personnel: 681

Production capacity: 1.1 million t of cement

Garadagh plant

PCCL Group, Sri  Lanka

Chief executive: Martin Foreman

Personnel: 962

Production capacity: 1.0 million t of cement

Shareholdings:

Galle Cement Company Ltd.

Lanka Quarries Ltd.

Puttalam Cement Company Ltd.

Puttalam plant

Ruhunu Cement Company Ltd.

Galle grinding plant

Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited,

Thailand

Chief executive: Vincent Bichet

Personnel: 6,288

Production capacity: 14.8 million t of cement

Saraburi plant

Shareholdings:

Karat Faucet Co. Ltd.

Siam City Concrete Co. Ltd.

Siam City Tiles and Pipes Co. Ltd.

Siam Fine China Co. Ltd.

Royal Porcelaine Co. Ltd.

Tenggara Cement Manufacturing Sdn Bhd,

Malaysia

Chief executive: Joe Khor

Personnel: 63

Production capacity: 1.2 million t of cement

Pasir Gudang grinding plant

Morning Star Cement Ltd.,  Vietnam

Chief executive: Gérard Letellier

Personnel: 604

Production capacity: 1.7 million t of cement

Hon Chong plant

Cat Lai pozzolanic grinding plant and terminal

Alsons Cement Corporation, Philippines

Chief executive: Tomas I. Alcantara

Personnel: 564

Production capacity: 2.3 million t of cement

Luga-It plant 

Shareholdings:

Bulkcem

Calamba Aggregates Co. Inc.

Northern Mindanao Transport Company

Queensland Cement Ltd.,  Australia

Chief executive: William G. Townsend

Personnel: 776

Production capacity: 1.9 million t of cement

Gladstone plant

Rockhampton plant

Bulwer Island grinding plant

Cairns terminal

Townsville terminal

Shareholdings:

Australian Admixtures Corporation Pty Ltd.

Australian Steel Mill Services Pty Ltd.

Excel Concrete

Excel Quarries

Pozzolanic Industries Ltd.

Queensland Cement Distributors Pty Ltd.

PT Wahana Pozzolanic, Indonesia

Umar Pacific Pte Ltd., Singapore

Milburn New Zealand Ltd.,  New Zealand

Chief executive: Rex Williams

Personnel: 660 

Production capacity: 0.5 million t of cement

Westport plant

Shareholdings:

Allied Milburn Ltd.

Coastal Resources Ltd.

McDonald’s Lime Ltd.

Milburn Aggregates

Readymix Concrete

Taylors Lime Co.

Suzhou Golden Cat Cement Ltd., China

Suzhou plant



Our relationship with
customers and market
partners is marked by 
a straightforward ap-
proach they can depend
on.

Guided by our pledge
“We keep our promise”,
we serve our customers
with premium-quality
products and deliver on
schedule.

We strive to be inno-
vative and flexible, in-
spired by a will to serve
each and every day.

Innovative solutions for our 
customers. We strive to
respond faster and more effectively
to customer demands. We want to
create added value that is mutually
beneficial.
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Faster learning implies
that we provide an en-
vironment for employ-
ees in which  their skills
and expertise are nur-
tured and developed.

In the process, our
employees are encour-
aged to think and 
act like entrepreneurs.
With courage, commit-
ment, expertise and
measured risk-taking,
they turn their success
into the success of the
entire Group.

Each piece, however,
needs to fit into the
overall picture. An open
style of communication
allows teams and pro-
jects to benefit from
the experience acquired
by others, avoiding re-
peat errors and multi-
plying success.

We allow  employees
to grow and blossom by providing
initiatives, including training and
education, that build job satisfaction
and enthusiasm.
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Objectives and strate-
gies are defined by 
the Group to provide 
a clear and common
direction. However, the
means by which these
goals are achieved in
the marketplace may
vary depending on
local and regional con-
ditions.

With most of our teams
made up of men and
women from diverse
cultures and back-
grounds, we nurture an
open communication
style and create an
atmosphere where all
contribute their skills
and expertise.

By actively promoting
the exchange of expe-
rience between Group
companies we facilitate
knowledge sharing and
best practice transfer
throughout the Group.

Corporate culture
inspired by partnership and open-
ness. We foster a multicultural man-
agement style which focuses on
human resources. Flexible organi-
zational structures help us to adapt
quickly to new developments.
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Those who wish to find
novel solutions need to
examine the lessons of
past experience.

To seize opportunities is
a never-ending process
linked to ongoing learn-
ing and the leveraging of
expertise from a variety
of projects.

Much of what was once
proven has become
obsolete. Therefore one
of the key questions
should be: What is a
better solution today?

Future-oriented cor-
porate organization
Through ongoing learning we want
to be able to seize future opportuni-
ties and meet all challenges with an
open mind.
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Ongoing processes and
developments are de-
rived from two essen-
tial prerequisites: the
understanding of rela-
tionships and recog-
nizing different view-
points. Indeed, global
problems can only be
solved through joint so-
lutions.

As a Group with world-
wide operations we
assume our responsibil-
ities to the environ-
ments and communi-
ties we work in. We act
in compliance with our
membership in the
World Business Council
for Sustainable Devel-
opment fostering the
use of alternative fuels
and materials in con-
junction with quality
controls and strict com-
pliance with environ-
mental considerations.

But our commitment
also encompasses so-
cial responsibility such
as safety on the job 
and community pro-
jects, especially in de-
veloping countries.

Sustainability is of
utmost importance. We want to 
utilize resources in an environ-
mentally sensible and respectful
manner.
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Shareholders expect to
receive an appropriate
return on investment.
To achieve this, we
must seize opportuni-
ties in the marketplace
and efficiently allocate
the funds we have been
entrusted with.

Our goals include a
strong and constant
cash flow stream as
well as improved mar-
gins.

Effective business risk
management allows us
to keep Group risks
under control and to an
absolute minimum.

To enjoy success is one
thing. But to work
towards achieving suc-
cess is a responsibility
we assume each and
every day.

Earnings Major success 
factors in our capital-intensive
industry are ongoing revenue
streams and growing profitability.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 

Financial Condition and Results of Operations 2000

The following discussion and analysis of the Group’s 

financial condition and results of operations should 

be read in conjunction with the Group’s financial 

statements and notes to the financial statements,

which are presented on pages 74 to 104 of this annual 

report.

Overview

“Holderbank’s” financial results in 2000 were favor-

able, highlighting the Group’s ability to meet the

changing global market conditions. Operating results

improved and cash flow performance was strong.

Group net sales increased by CHF 1,818 million (1999:

926), or 14.9% (1999: 8.2%), to CHF 14,012 million

(1999: 12,194). The Group benefited considerably from

a strong USD as well as new additions to the consolida-

tion structure. The internal growth in net sales, exclud-

ing the impact of changes in foreign currencies and the

consolidation structure, amounted to CHF 518 million

(1999: 435) or 4.2% (1999: 3.9%). The Group’s results

are influenced by the rapidly changing global condi-

tions in the construction sector, which, on balance, re-

mained favorable during 2000. This resulted in contin-

ued growth at the operating profit level. There were

improved economic environments in most of the

emerging markets in which the Group operates. Latin

America, with the exception of Argentina, performed

strongly and contributed again to the Group’s result.

Asia Pacific continued to recover slowly, and Group re-

gion Africa Middle East also contributed to operational

growth. Operating profits were stable in the Group’s

European and North American markets. US economy

performed strongly during most of the year, however

showing first signs of weaker growth dynamics during

the fourth quarter. 

The analysis of the geographical segments again 

highlights the increasing geographic diversity of the

Group. Europe, although still the largest region, de-

creased its share to 36.6% (1999: 39.8%) of the 

Group’s net sales. Net sales in Latin America continued

to grow and represent 25.8% (1999: 23.0%) of the

Group total, and the investments in Asia Pacific in-

creased this region’s share to 8.0% (1999: 6.6%). North

America and Africa Middle East accounted for 21.8%

(1999: 22.7%) and 7.8% (1999: 7.9%) of net sales, 

respectively.

Over the past years, “Holderbank” has continuously 

focused on core businesses and markets and disposed

of operations falling outside of this framework. 60.4%

(1999: 60.2%) of net sales are derived from the segment

cement / clinker and 21.9% (1999: 21.2%) from aggre-

gates / concrete. The percentage of net sales attribut-

able to other products / services decreased to 17.7%

(1999: 18.6%). 

Effect of Currencies and Inflation on Operations

The Group operates in more than 70 countries. More

than 90% of operations account in currencies other

than the Swiss Franc (CHF). Income statements in for-

eign currencies are translated into CHF at the average

exchange rate of the year, whereas balance sheets in

foreign currencies are consolidated at year-end ex-

change rates.

In 2000, the average valuation of the CHF weakened

against most of the major currencies in which the

Group operates, with the exception of the EURO. Con-

sidering that the Group’s results are most sensitive to

movements affecting the USD and the EURO, the USD

appreciation compared to the CHF during the year had

a significant impact on the consolidated income state-

ment and the results of the Group. Due to exchange

rate differences, net sales improved by CHF 779 million

(1999: 173) and operating profit by CHF 133 million

(1999: 31). 

The impact was not so evident on the Group balance

sheet. The EURO lost 5.0% compared to the previous

year closing. The American economy showed some

slowdown by the end of the year causing the USD 

to revaluate +2.5% – down from its record highs during

the year. This led to a CHF 116 million (1999: +493) 

decrease in shareholders’ equity due to currency trans-

lation adjustments.

In some emerging market countries the impact of 

inflation and devaluation is minimized by functional

currency – usually USD – accounting. 

Change in Group Structure

Net financial investments amounted to CHF 1,929 mil-

lion (1999: 710). This includes major changes in the con-

solidation structure through the first-time consolida-

tion of Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited

(Thailand) and – for six month only – Egyptian Cement

Company S.A.E. (Egypt), both using the proportional

consolidation method. 

During the year, the Group invested heavily in expand-

ing its presence in Eastern Europe, including the acqui-

sitions of Cimus SA and Alcim SA (Romania), United

Quarries Ltd. (Bulgaria), the Hejöcsaba plant (Hungary)

and “Garadagh” Cement J.S.C. (Azerbaijan), which are

new additions to the scope of consolidation. 

The Group continued to strengthen its participation 

in subsidiaries. Additional minority interests were 

acquired at Apasco S.A. de C.V. (Mexico), St. Lawrence 

Cement Inc. (Canada) and Juan Minetti S.A. (Ar-

gentina).

In addition, new or further investments have been

made in non-consolidated companies such as Cimpor –

Cimentos de Portugal S.A. (Portugal), Cementos Pro-

greso S.A. (Guatemala), Hyundai Cement (Bangladesh)

Co., Ltd. (Bangladesh) and Corporación INCEM S.A. 

(Panama). 

Divestments mainly include operations falling outside

of Group core activities and markets. 

The change in Group structure increased net sales by

CHF 521 million (1999: 318) and operating profit by CHF

65 million (1999: 31).

Results of Operations

During 2000, cement capacity grew by 22.0% (1999:

8.2%) to 109.8 million tonnes (1999: 90.0). This reflects

the investment activity during the year as well as 

adjustments to ensure that the capacity is measured

identically in all operations. 
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Cash generation is the success fac-
tor for sustainable growth, conti-
nuous investments in our workforce,
technological leadership and value 
creation – that’s what we call

performance.



The percentage of the Group’s net sales represented by

income statement items is set out in the following

table:

Per year-end in % 2000 1999

Net sales 100.0 100.0

Cost of products and services sold (59.9) (59.9)

Gross profit 40.1 40.1

Distribution and selling expenses (16.7) (17.1)

Administrative expenses (7.4) (7.2)

Other depreciation and amortization (1.7) (1.8)

Operating profit 14.3 14.0

Additional ordinary income 1.2 1.7

EBIT 15.5 15.7

Financial expenses (net) (4.9) (4.3)

Group net income before taxes 10.6 11.4

Income taxes (3.2) (3.4)

Group net income before minority interests 7.4 8.0

Net Sales 

The increase of net sales by CHF 1,818 million (1999:

926) to CHF 14,012 million (1999: 12,194) was mainly

achieved in the segment cement / clinker with addi-

tional sales of CHF 1,272 million (1999: 713) accounting

now for CHF 9,544 million (1999: 8,272) or 60.4% (1999:

60.2%) of total Group turnover. In the segment aggre-

gates / concrete, net sales rose by CHF 540 million 

(1999: 154) to CHF 3,451 million (1999: 2,911), repre-

senting a share of 21.9% (1999: 21.2%) of total net

sales. Due to the divestments of activities in the seg-

ment other products / services, net sales increased 

only by CHF 251 million (1999: 111) to CHF 2,799 mil-

lion (1999: 2,548), accounting now for 17.7% (1999:

18.6%) of total turnover.

Operating Profit

The gross profit margin remained stable at 40.1%. 

Market conditions were mostly favorable – particularly

in Latin America and the first half of the year in 

North America. Production costs per tonne of cement 

increased due to higher variable costs arising partly 

from the increase in energy prices and more conserva-

tive valuations of spare parts. These increases were to

some extent offset by the Group initiative to increase 

its use of alternative fuels. The operating profit was 

further improved by higher selling prices driven by 

the strong USD and favorable economic conditions in

certain Latin American countries.

Administrative expenses amounted to 7.4% (1999: 7.2%)

of net sales. Various initiatives, including efforts to opti-

mize the Group structure continue to be launched to

streamline the administration and reduce costs. During

the year, a Group-wide standardized management ac-

counting system was implemented. The new manage-

ment information system and related initiatives will fa-

cilitate international, Group-wide benchmarking, enable

Group companies to share services and further strength-

en the efficiency and effectiveness of administration.

Other depreciation and amortization decreased to 

1.7% (1999: 1.8%) of net sales. The slight reduction in

this margin, which contains amortization and depreci-

ation on other operating assets, was primarily due to

reduced amortization of goodwill. The Group’s recent

investment activity was reviewed and the amortiza-

tion periods specified as part of the respective account-

ing guideline.

Operating profit margin improved to 14.3% (1999:

14.0%). The increase of CHF 295 million (1999: 139) or

17.3% (1999: 8.9%) was the result of positive effects of

exchange rate movements of CHF 133 million (1999:

31) and changes in the consolidation structure of CHF

65 million (1999: 31). Internal growth improved oper-

ating profit by CHF 97 million (1999: 77). The area re-

turning the highest growth was Latin America which

raised its operating profit by 43.2% (1999: 4.5%) and

now accounts for 40.8% (1999: 34.2%) of Group operat-

ing profit. Strong results in most Latin American coun-

tries more than offset the difficulties in Argentina. The

area of largest percentage growth was Africa Middle

East, which lifted operating profit by 67.0% (1999:

24.6%) to account for 7.4% (1999: 5.3%) of the Group

total. This demonstrated the success of the restructur-

ing efforts at Alpha (Pty) Limited (South Africa) as well

as the first-time proportional consolidation of Egyptian

Cement Company S.A.E. (Egypt) for the second half of

the year. Asia Pacific increased operating profit by

40.6% (1999: –1.4%) due largely to the inclusion of

Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited (Thailand)

for the first time. The regions with stable operating

profits are the areas of Europe (1999: +24.5%) and

North America (1999: –2.1%) which have historically

provided most of the Group’s earnings. This is a confir-

mation of the success arising from the Group strategy

of geographical diversification. Group region Europe

reflects today a mixture of emerging and mature 

markets smoothing the progress of operating profit of

this region.

Financial Expenses

Net financial expenses amounted to 4.9% (1999: 4.3%) of

Group net sales. The increase resulted from the higher

levels of net financial debt arising from the investment

activity in the last couple of years as well as from cur-

rency fluctuations, which ended in the reversal of the 

previous year’s gain. The average interest rate on the 

financial liabilities on hand at December 31 amounts 

to 6.4% (1999: 5.9%).

Income Taxes

The expected income tax rate for the Group remains 

at 33.0%. During the year, the effective tax rate was

30.2% (1999: 29.8%) and was lower than the expected

rate, primarily due to the recognition of tax losses

brought forward by Group companies following a suc-

cessful return to profitability.

Net Income

Net income after minority interests improved by 

11.4% (1999: 16.6%). As a result, earnings per dividend-

bearing bearer share increased by 9.6% (1999: 14.5%)

to CHF 120.60 (1999: 110.06), on a fully diluted basis to

CHF 118.00 (1999: 108.50).

Cash Flow

The growth in cash flow of 34.4% (1999: 0.8%) during

the year was extremely strong and outweighs the

17.3% (1999: 0.8%) growth in operating profit. Cash
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Latin America 40.8%

Europe 26.4%

North America 20.7%

Africa Middle East 7.4%

Asia Pacific 4.7%

Europe 36.6%

Latin America 25.8%

North America 21.8%

Asia Pacific 8.0%

Africa Middle East 7.8%

Net sales per Group region 2000



generated from operating activities amounted to 

CHF 2,557 million (1999: 1,902). The favorable increase 

also includes one-time effects such as the efficient

management of working capital. 

Balance Sheet

Consolidated shareholders’ equity grew by CHF 670

million (1999: 1,437) to CHF 7,100 million (1999: 6,430),

mainly due to the enhancement of equity through net

income by CHF 886 million (1999: 795). Profit distribu-

tion of CHF 162 million (1999: 142) and currency trans-

lation adjustments of CHF –116 million (1999: +493)

were partly offset by the movements in treasury shares 

of CHF 238 million (1999: –54). The impact of increase 

in participations and adoption of new International 

Accounting Standards (IAS 37) amounts to CHF –176

million (1999: –109). Interests of minority shareholders 

increased by CHF 98 million (1999: 379) to CHF 1,900

million (1999: 1,802) basically due to minority interests

in the new consolidations, partially offset by the buy

outs of minority interests.

The Group’s net financial debt amounts to CHF 9,060 

million (1999: 7,631), an increase of 18.7% (1999: 8.0%)

largely due to cash requirements for expansion through

property, plant and equipment and financial investment.

Gearing (net financial debt divided by shareholders’ 

equity including minority interests) reflected the 

higher borrowing levels and increased from 92.7% to

100.7%.

Although the net financial debt increased, the portion

relating to cash and marketable securities amounted to

CHF 2,288 million (1999: 1,623) placing the Group in a

position to continue its acquisition strategy. 

Sustainable Development

As a member of the World Business Council for Sus-

tainable Development, “Holderbank” is committed to

the environment. The use of alternative fuels and raw

materials as well as blended cements is being system-

atically pursued in all regions to bring both an environ-

mental and economic benefit to the Group but also to

contribute to societies’ future. Investments in environ-

mental protection are a priority in companies acquired

in developing countries. Active commitment to social

welfare activities within our local sphere of influence

contributes to sustainable economic development

through working with local communities and society at

large. 

CHF 129 million (1999: 73) were invested to further 

improve the environmental sustainability of the pro-

duction facilities. 

Group companies provide for their environmental lia-

bilities based on constructive as well as legal and con-

tractual obligations. CHF 273 million (1999: 130) has

been set aside as a provision for recultivation and 

other environmental liabilities, an increase of CHF 143

million (1999: 3). The increase reflects both the intro-

duction of IAS 37 on provisions, contingent liabilities

and contingent assets as well as the Group’s commit-

ment to the environment. The Group does not antici-

pate any material adverse effect of environmental lia-

bilities on future results of operations.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Derivative financial instruments are mainly used to fix

the interest rate of long-term variable-rate liabilities

and to hedge liabilities denominated in foreign curren-

cies against swings in currency exchange rates on spe-

cific transactions.

Corporate Governance 

During 2000, the Group continued with the introduc-

tion of its comprehensive Business Risk Management

program. The program is now continuously applied by

Group companies to assess relevant risks and develop

strategies to deal with those risks. In 2001, the Group

will focus on the implementation and alignment of risk

management strategies and the development of a

compliance function to ensure proper application of

risk management procedures.

Risks Associated with International Operations

The Group includes operations in the emerging markets

of Eastern Europe, Latin America, Africa and Asia. These

are the areas that produced the highest levels of growth

in cement demand over the past few years and provide

the “Holderbank” Group with its strength and flexibili-

ty in a rapidly growing market. These areas have been

the focus of much of the Group’s acquisition activity.

The decision to boost the Group’s presence in these 

areas has proved strategically sound and Group com-

panies are well positioned to take advantage of ex-

pected economic growth.

Accounting Policies

IAS 37 on provisions, contingent liabilities and contin-

gent assets was implemented in 2000. In previous

years, the Group only required the raising of a provision

for the costs of recultivating a quarry where a legal or

contractual obligation existed. IAS 37 expanded this 

to include constructive obligations. Given the Group’s

commitment to sustainable environmental perfor-

mance, it was necessary to increase the provision.

As a consequence, shareholders’ equity was reduced by

CHF 123 million as of January 1, 2000. It was not con-

sidered necessary to restate comparative information,

as the related amounts were not significant.

IAS 39: Recognition and Measurement will be imple-

mented in 2001. Complexities and onerous disclosure

requirements of this standard will have a far-reaching

effect. In addition, the Group will implement IAS 40: 

Investment properties.

Cimpor (Portugal)

The Group has a stake in the Portuguese cement 

manufacture Cimpor – Cimentos de Portugal, S.A. The

Portuguese government continues to work towards a

transparent solution that takes proper account of 

shareholders’ interests and is supposed to release the

privatization rules by the end of the first trimester 2001.

Outlook

Apart from the forex development, especially the USD

and EURO, as well as on the US economy,  management

feels positive about 2001. The flexibility arising from

the wide geographic presence of the Group proves to be 

a solid platform for sustainable long-term growth. 

Restructuring and cost cutting programs will enhance

margins in several countries. The industry continues 

to consolidate and the Group is well positioned to take

advantage where opportunities exist. The balance be-

tween the mature construction markets of Western 

Europe and the potential for growth in Eastern Europe

will mean that this region is expected to make similar

contributions. A possible weakening of the USD would

affect the results in CHF from North and Latin America.

Whereas low margin imports will be reduced to offset

lower demand in the US, we expect continued gratify-

ing results from Latin America thanks to a generally

stable outlook of the local economies but also as a 

result of the completion of restructuring programs. In

Africa Middle East indications are that demand will

continue to increase and new capacity in Egypt will be

fully utilized. The recovery in the Asian markets will

continue modestly and the Group will further seek

strategic partnerships in this region.
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Consolidated balance sheet “Holderbank” as at December 31 2000 1999

Million CHF Notes

Cash and cash equivalents 18 2,288 1,623

Accounts receivable 19 2,486 2,296

Inventories 20 1,423 1,419

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 204 163

Total current assets 6,401 5,501

Financial investments 21 2,386 1,997

Property, plant and equipment 22 13,266 11,747

Intangible and other assets 23 2,936 2,457

Total long-term assets 18,588 16,201

Total assets 24,989 21,702

Trade accounts payable 24 1,114 997

Current financing liabilities 25 3,295 1,982

Other current liabilities 26 1,381 1,188

Total short-term liabilities 5,790 4,167

Long-term financing liabilities 27 8,053 7,272

Long-term provisions 28 2,146 2,031

Total long-term liabilities 10,199 9,303

Total liabilities 15,989 13,470

Interests of minority shareholders 29 1,900 1,802

Authorized capital 377 377

Reserves 6,723 6,053

Total shareholders’ equity 7,100 6,430

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 24,989 21,702

Consolidated statement of income “Holderbank” 2000 1999

Million CHF Notes

Net sales 5 14,012 12,194

Cost of products and services sold 6 (8,391) (7,299)

Gross profit 5,621 4,895

Distribution and selling expenses 7 (2,345) (2,086)

Administrative expenses (1,034) (875)

Other depreciation and amortization 8 (241) (228)

Operating profit 9 2,001 1,706

Additional ordinary income 10 165 207

EBIT 2,166 1,913

Financial expenses 11 (683) (520)

Group net income before taxes 1,483 1,393

Income taxes 12 (448) (415)

Group net income before minority interests 1,035 978

Minority interests (149) (183)

Group net income after minority interests 16 886 795

CHF

Earnings per dividend-bearing bearer share 17 120.60 110.06

Fully diluted earnings per bearer share 17 118.00 108.50
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Consolidated cash flow statement “Holderbank” 2000 1999

Million CHF Notes

Operating profit 2,001 1,706

Depreciation and amortization of operating assets 8 1,364 1,151

Other non-cash items 42 24

Change in net working capital 243 (144)

Cash generated from operations 3,650 2,737

Additional ordinary income 97 85

Interest paid (639) (511)

Income taxes paid (551) (409)

Cash flow from operating activities   (A) 32 2,557 1,902

Investments in property, plant and equipment net (1,640) (1,111)

Financial investments net (1,929) (710)

Cash flow from investing activities   (B) 33 (3,569) (1,821)

Dividends paid (294) (226)

Equity capital paid-in 0 376

Movements of treasury shares net 34 236 (63)

Increase in current financing liabilities 1,373 424

Proceeds from long-term financing liabilities 1,822 2,436

Repayment of long-term financing liabilities (1,469) (2,267)

Cash flow from financing activities   (C) 34 1,668 680

Increase in cash and cash equivalents   (A + B + C) 656 761

Cash and cash equivalents as at January 1 1,623 854

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 656 761

Effects of exchange rate movements 9 8

Cash and cash equivalents as at December 31 2,288 1,623

Statement of changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity “Holderbank” 2000 1999

Million CHF Note

Authorized capital as at January 1 377 363

Capital paid-in 0 14 

Authorized capital as at December 31   (A) 377 377

Reserves

Capital surplus as at January 1 1,945 1,559

Capital paid-in 0 361 

Shareholders’ equity – convertible bonds 0 25 

Capital surplus as at December 31   (B1) 1,945 1,945 

Retained earnings as at January 1 3,917 3,373

Transitional effect from adopting IAS 37 28 (99) 0 

Retained earnings as at January 1 restated 3,818 3,373 

Change in treasury shares 238 (54) 

Profit distribution (162) (142)

Group net income after minority interests 886 795

Effect of increase in participations (77) (55) 

Retained earnings as at December 31   (B2) 4,703 3,917 

Currency translation adjustments as at January 1 191 (302)

Currency translation adjustments (116) 493 

Currency translation adjustments as at December 31   (B3)  75 191 

Total reserves   (B1 + B2 + B3) 6,723 6,053 

Total shareholders’ equity   (A + B1 + B2 + B3) 7,100 6,430
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General

The consolidated financial statements of “Holderbank”

are based on uniform, generally accepted accounting

principles for all Group companies. Since 1991,

“Holderbank’s” consolidated financial statements

have been prepared in accordance with the Interna-

tional Accounting Standards (IAS) as published by the

International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC).

The listing rules of the Swiss Exchange SWX have also

been complied with.

The promulgated standard IAS 37 on provisions, con-

tingent liabilities and contingent assets has been

adopted during the year. The opening balance of re-

tained earnings has been adjusted in terms of the tran-

sitional provisions of this standard. Comparative infor-

mation has not been restated. 

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity

with International Accounting Standards (IAS) requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities

and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at

the date of the financial statements as well as the re-

ported amounts of revenues and expenses during the

reporting period. These estimates are based on man-

agement’s best knowledge of current events and ac-

tions the Company may undertake in the future. How-

ever, actual results ultimately may differ from those

estimates.

Consolidation Method

The consolidated financial statements include the ac-

counts of Swiss and foreign companies and their sub-

sidiaries (Group companies) of which “Holderbank” Fi-

nancière Glaris Ltd. directly or indirectly controls more

than 50% of the voting rights, or where control is se-

cured by contractual agreements. The interests of oth-

er shareholders in equity and net income are shown

separately in the consolidated balance sheet and

statement of income. In the case of joint ventures,

where the partners participate at equal percentage

rates, the proportionate consolidation method is ap-

plied. Financial investments in associated companies

which “Holderbank” does not control (usually 20% to

50%) are included in the consolidated financial state-

ments according to the equity method. Participations

of less than 20% are valued at the acquisition costs af-

ter adjustments on valuation. Group companies ac-

quired or sold during the year are included in or ex-

cluded from the consolidated financial statements 

effective from the date of acquisition or sale. Inter-

company transactions and balances are eliminated.

Translation of Foreign Currencies

Balance sheets prepared in foreign currencies are

translated into CHF at year-end exchange rates. Cer-

tain Group companies operating in high-inflation

countries keep their accounts in a functional currency,

usually USD. The statement of income and cash flow

statement are translated at the average exchange

rates for the year. Translation differences resulting

from the above method are directly credited or debited

to shareholders’ equity or interests of minority share-

holders, respectively. Exchange differences on mone-

tary positions between the local currency and the func-

tional currency are included in the annual statement of

income. Exchange gains and losses resulting from the

translation of transactions are shown in the statement

of income.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash comprises cash held at banks and on hand and

short or medium-term investments maturing within

the next 12 months. Marketable securities consist of

securities traded on a stock exchange and held for the

purpose of being realized at short notice. Securities

held over the short term, including those of Group

companies, are valued at market rates. Valuation dif-

ferences are included in the statement of income. Se-

curities held as long-term investments are included

under financial investments and are valued at the low-

er of acquisition cost or market price.

Inventories

Inventories are shown in the balance sheet at the low-

er of historical acquisition or production costs or realiz-

able market value. Production costs comprise the ac-

quisition costs for raw materials and additives as well

as variable and fixed production costs including pro-

duction overheads. Inventories are valued in accor-

dance with the FIFO method (First In, First Out) or the

average-cost method. Unbilled services are valued ac-

cording to the percentage of completion method. As

they are not material to the Group, interim profits on

inventories and unbilled services between Group com-

panies are not eliminated.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are valued at the acqui-

sition or construction cost less economic depreciation

and impairment loss. A straight-line method of depre-

ciation is applied throughout the estimated useful life.

The following aspects are taken into consideration

when determining the useful life of property, plant or

equipment: the physical life span, the company’s re-

placement policy, market or technological obsoles-

cence, contractual and legal restrictions, and the re-

maining useful life of existing property, plant and

equipment that have to be replaced as a single entity.

The estimated useful life for depreciation purposes is:

Land No depreciation except on land
with raw material reserves

Buildings and installations 20 to 40 years

Machines 10 to 30 years

Furniture, vehicles and tools 3 to 10 years

Construction in progress Written off only if impaired

Repairs and renovations are normally charged to 

the statement of income. Expenses are reported as as-

sets only if the amounts involved are substantial and

one or more of the following conditions are satisfied:

the original useful life is prolonged, the original pro-

duction capacity is increased, the quality of the prod-

ucts is enhanced materially or production costs are 

reduced considerably. If a construction project is to

last one year or longer and the corresponding fi-

nancing costs are significant relative to the total 

financing costs of the reporting company, then the 

relevant financing costs are capitalized and depre-

ciated for the estimated useful life of the property,

plant or equipment. Government grants received for

investments are deducted from the relevant asset 

and reduce the economic depreciation accordingly.

Lease contracts which are tantamount to the purchase

of assets (finance leases) are shown as assets and re-

ported at the net present value under property, plant

and equipment. Lease commitments (excluding fi-

nancing costs) are reported under current or long-term

financing liabilities. In the case of sale and lease-back

transactions, there is no change in the book value of

the relevant property, plant or equipment. Gains from

a sale are included in the liability, and the financing

costs are allocated over the term of the lease in such a

manner that the costs are reported over the relevant

periods.

Intangible Assets

Goodwill on participating interests acquired after Jan-

uary 1, 1992: Goodwill resulting from the acquisition of

Group or associated companies corresponds to the dif-

ference between the purchase price and the fair value

of the acquired net assets at the time of acquisition.

Goodwill is amortized over the useful economic life, 

using in normal circumstances the following rates:

Cement / Clinker 20 years

Aggregates 10 years

Ready-mixed concrete 5 years

Other products and services 10 years

Shorter useful lives may be used where appropriate,

however the maximum useful life may not exceed 20

years. All intangible assets are stated net of any im-

pairment loss. If the purchase price is lower than the

fair value of the acquired net assets, the non-monetary

assets are reduced proportionately, or the negative
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goodwill is recognized as deferred income and system-

atically recorded as income over the next few years as

is the case with positive goodwill. Goodwill on partici-

pations acquired prior to January 1, 1992: Goodwill on

participations acquired before January 1, 1992 has not

been capitalized. Other intangible assets: Patents, li-

censes and concessions are valued at historical costs,

corresponding either to the purchase price or the de-

velopment costs. Development costs represent all ex-

penses incurred until the moment of official registra-

tion. Such costs are amortized over the shorter of the

legal or economic life. Capitalized expenses: Organiza-

tion, formation and start-up costs are amortized with-

in 5 years.

Impairment of Assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

are reviewed for impairment whenever events or

changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying

amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Whenever

the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recover-

able amount, an impairment loss is recognized in the

statement of income. The recoverable amount is the

higher of an asset’s net selling price and value in use.

The net selling price is the amount obtainable from the

sale of an asset in an arm’s length transaction while

value in use is the present value of estimated future

cash flows expected to arise from the continuing use of

an asset and from its disposal at the end of its useful

life. Recoverable amounts are estimated for individual

assets or, if it is not possible, for the cash-generating

unit.

Reversal of impairment losses recognized in prior years

is recorded when there is an indication that the im-

pairment losses recognized for the asset no longer ex-

ist or have decreased. The reversal is recorded in in-

come.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when it is probable that the eco-

nomic benefits associated with the transaction will

flow to the enterprise and the amount of the revenue

can be measured reliably. Sales are recognized net of

sales taxes and discounts when delivery has taken

place and transfer of risks and rewards has been com-

pleted. Revenue from rendering services is recognized

by reference to the stage of completion when it can be

measured reliably. The stage of completion is deter-

mined based on surveys of work performed. 

Interest is recognized on a time proportion basis that

reflects the effective yield on the asset. Dividends are

recognized when the shareholder’s right to receive

payment is established.

Deferred Taxes

Provisions are made for deferred income tax liabilities

arising from differences between valuation methods

used in consolidation and those required by local tax

rules as applied to assets and liabilities. The provisions

are adjusted continually for any changes in local tax

legislation. Provisions for deferred taxes are estab-

lished in accordance with the comprehensive liability

method. Under the comprehensive liability method

provisions are established for all taxable temporary

differences. Tax loss carryforwards are only reported as

deferred when it can be reasonably assumed that fu-

ture taxable income will be sufficient to secure a tax

advantage by offsetting losses. Provisions are not

made for deferred taxes on the undistributed earnings

of Group companies since these companies can decide

themselves when dividends are to be distributed.

Employee Benefits – Defined Benefit Plans

Some Group companies provide defined benefit pen-

sion plans for employees. Professionally qualified inde-

pendent actuaries value the funds on a regular basis (1

to 3 years). The obligation and costs of pension bene-

fits are determined using a projected unit credit

method. The projected unit credit method considers

each period of service as giving rise to an additional

unit of benefit entitlement and measures each unit

separately to build up the final obligation. Past service

costs are recognized on a straight-line basis over the

average period until the amended benefits become

vested. Gains or losses on the curtailment or settle-

ment of pension benefits are recognized when the cur-

tailment or settlement occurs. Actuarial gains or losses

are amortized based on the expected average remain-

ing working lives of the employees. The pension oblig-

ation is measured at the present value of estimated fu-

ture cash flows using a discount rate that is similar to

the interest rate on government bonds where the cur-

rency and terms of the government bonds are consis-

tent with the currency and estimated terms of the de-

fined benefit obligation. The Group records an asset on-

ly if there is control over the asset.

Employee Benefits – Defined Contribution Plans

In addition to the defined benefit plans described

above, some Group companies sponsor defined contri-

bution plans based on local practices and regulations.

The Group’s contributions relating to defined contribu-

tion plans are charged to income in the year to which

they relate.

Employee Benefits – Other Post Employment

Benefit Plans

Other post employee benefits include long-service

leave or sabbatical leave, medical aid, jubilee or other

long-service benefits, long-term disability benefits

and, if they are not payable wholly within twelve

months after the end of the period, profit sharing,

bonuses and deferred compensation.

Employee Benefits – Share Options

Share options are granted to employees. If the options

are granted at the market price of the shares on the date

of the grant and are exercisable at least at that price, no

compensation cost is recognized. If the options are

granted at a discount on the market price, a compensa-

tion cost is recognized in the statement of income based

on that discount. When the options are exercised, the

proceeds received net of any transaction costs are cred-

ited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Through the use of various kinds of derivative financial

instruments, the Group hedges certain currency and in-

terest rate risks. Derivative financial instruments are

used primarily to hedge specific transactions and only

involve counterparties of sufficient credit quality. In-

terest rate swaps and interest rate options are used by

the Group primarily to hedge debt positions. The inter-

est spread is used to offset interest expenditure during

the period it is incurred. Gains and losses from deriva-

tive financial instruments are allocated to the period in

which the underlying transaction is recorded in the

statement of income.

Provision for Site Restoration

The Group provides for the costs of restoring a 

quarry where a legal or constructive obligation exists.

The provision is raised through operating costs over the

life of the quarry and is based on the best estimate of

the expenditure required to settle the present obliga-

tion at the balance sheet date. Where the effect of the

time value is material, the amount of a provision is dis-

counted based on the enterprise’s long-term borrowing

rate. The cost of raising a provision necessary before

exploitation of the raw materials have commenced are

included in property, plant and equipment and depreci-

ated over the life of the quarry.

80 81



Newly included As at

Germany: Happy-Beton GmbH & Co. KG January 1, 2000

Hungary: Hejöcsaba plant January 1, 2000

Romania: Alcim SA August 1, 2000

Romania: Cimus SA January 1, 2000

Bulgaria: United Quarries Ltd. January 1, 2000

Egypt: Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E. 
(proportionate consolidation) July 1, 2000

Azerbaijan: “Garadagh” Cement J.S.C. January 1, 2000

Thailand: Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited 
(proportionate consolidation) January 1, 2000

Disposals As at

Germany: Niederschlesische Kiesgesellschaft mbH December 31, 2000

Switzerland: Amstutz AG January 1, 2000

Slovakia: Cementáren Lietavská Lúcka a.s. December 31, 2000

Cambodia: Naga Cement Ltd. January 1, 2000

1 Major foreign currencies. 

Statement of income Balance sheet

Average exchange rate in CHF Year-end exchange rate in CHF

2000 1999 ±% 2000 1999 ±%

1 EUR 1.56 1.60 –2.5 1 EUR 1.52 1.60 –5.0

100 BEF 3.86 3.96 –2.5 100 BEF 3.77 3.97 –5.0

100 FRF 23.75 24.38 –2.6 100 FRF 23.19 24.43 –5.1

100 ESP 0.94 0.96 –2.1 100 ESP 0.91 0.96 –5.2

100 DEM 79.67 81.78 –2.6 100 DEM 77.78 81.94 –5.1

10,000 ITL 8.05 8.26 –2.5 10,000 ITL 7.86 8.28 –5.1

100 SKK 3.66 3.63 +0.8 100 SKK 3.47 3.77 –8.0

100 HUF 0.60 0.63 –4.8 100 HUF 0.57 0.63 –9.5

1 USD 1.69 1.50 +12.7 1 USD 1.64 1.60 +2.5

1 CAD 1.14 1.01 +12.9 1 CAD 1.09 1.10 –0.9

100 MXN 17.88 15.63 +14.4 100 MXN 17.07 16.00 +6.7

100 MAD 15.90 15.32 +3.8 100 MAD 15.42 15.86 –2.8

1 ZAR 0.24 0.25 –4.0 1 ZAR 0.22 0.26 –15.4

100 THB 4.21 4.04 +4.2 100 THB 3.78 4.15 –8.9

1 AUD 0.98 0.97 +1.0 1 AUD 0.91 1.04 –12.5

1 NZD 0.77 0.79 –2.5 1 NZD 0.72 0.83 –13.3

1 Changes in the Scope of Consolidation

The scope of consolidation has been affected by addi-

tions and disposals made in 2000. The principal busi-

nesses are detailed below:

2 Foreign Currencies1

The following table summarizes the principal ex-

change rates, which have been used for translation

purposes (CHF per foreign currency unit). The net 

gains (losses) on foreign currency translation included 

in the consolidated statement of income were CHF –39

million and CHF 25 million for the years ended Decem-

ber 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively.
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3 Segment Information

Information by region Europe North America Latin America Africa Middle East Asia Pacific Corporate / Eliminations Total Group

2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999

Statement of income, balance sheet
and cash flow statement

Million CHF

Net sales 5,300 5,010 3,159 2,845 3,742 2,881 1,129 986 1,159 823 (477) (351) 14,012 12,194

Operating profit 540 539 423 424 835 583 152 91 97 69 (46) 0 2,001 1,706

Net operating assets 4,609 4,846 2,368 2,087 5,154 4,859 1,287 1,004 2,319 1,780 99 0 15,836 14,576

Total financing liabilities 4,561 4,772 1,319 1,143 2,011 2,074 619 236 1,260 1,186 1,578 (157) 11,348 9,254

Cash flow from operating activities 800 767 546 417 858 522 187 120 137 104 29 (28) 2,557 1,902

Cash flow from investing activities (521) (1,073) (685) (464) (892) (383) (180) (25) (4) (18) (1,287) 142 (3,569) (1,821)

Depreciation and amortization 
of operating assets 471 441 214 152 395 332 114 101 167 125 3 0 1,364 1,151

Impairment loss (charged to income) 0 (19) 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1) 0 (1) (19)

Capacity and sales

Million t

Production capacity cement 31.8 28.0 19.31 15.1 28.8 28.0 12.6 9.5 17.3 9.4 109.8 90.0

Sales of cement and clinker 24.0 22.8 18.7 18.4 19.2 19.3 9.8 7.5 11.7 6.6 (1.4) 0 82.0 74.6

Sales of aggregates 46.5 43.6 14.6 12.8 12.5 11.3 9.2 13.3 3.8 3.9 86.6 84.9

Million m3

Sales of ready-mixed concrete 12.5 11.0 2.3 2.1 7.2 6.2 1.6 1.6 1.3 0.9 24.9 21.8

Personnel

Number of personnel 16,190 14,249 5,348 5,271 10,499 10,676 4,779 4,999 7,500 4,132 44,316 39,327

Information by product Cement / Clinker Aggregates / Concrete Other products / Services Corporate / Eliminations Total Group

2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999

Statement of income, balance sheet
and cash flow statement

Million CHF

Net sales 9,544 8,272 3,451 2,911 2,799 2,548 (1,782) (1,537) 14,012 12,194

Operating profit 1,862 1,614 113 103 26 (11) 2,001 1,706

Net operating assets 13,017 11,561 2,063 2,174 756 841 15,836 14,576

Cash flow from investing activities (1,944) (1,292) (282) (152) (63) (45) (1,280) (332) (3,569) (1,821)

Personnel

Number of personnel 24,278 21,846 12,198 11,203 7,840 6,278 44,316 39,327

1 Including slag grinding capacity.
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6 Cost of Products and Services Sold

Million CHF 2000 1999

Material expenses 2,545 2,469

Energy expenses 1,298 1,005

Personnel expenses 1,493 1,329

Depreciation 960 797

Other production expenses 2,111 1,770

Change in inventory 1 (64)

Capitalized expenses (17) (7)

Total 8,391 7,299

7 Distribution and Selling Expenses

Million CHF 2000 1999

Distribution expenses 1,835 1,651

Selling expenses 510 435

Total 2,345 2,086

Change in consolidated net sales

Million CHF 2000 1999

Volume and price 518 435

Change in structure 521 318

Exchange rate movements 779 173

Total 1,818 926

5 Net Sales

Million CHF 2000 1999

Sales net of taxes 15,115 12,940

Deductions from sales (1,103) (746)

Net sales 14,012 12,194

Of which to associates 125 127

4 Production Capacity

Cement production capacity increased by a total of

19.8 million t (1999: 6.8) to 109.8 million t (1999: 90.0).

This is mainly due to further additions to the scope of

consolidation and the commissioning of new capaci-

ties that accounted for 17.8 million t (1999: 6.8), whilst 

divested and shutdown capacity amounted to 0.8 mil-

lion t (1999: 0.6). The remaining increase of 2.8 million

t (1999: 0.6) is the net result of technical improvements

and adjustments to estimated capacities at various

plants.

9 Operating Profit

Operating profit increased by CHF 295 million (1999:

139) or 17.3% (1999: 8.9%). This increase resulted 

from a strong appreciation in the USD and improved

market conditions. This was especially the case in Latin 

America, which increased its operating profit by 43.2%

(1999: 4.5%) accounting for 40.8% (1999: 34.2%) of the

Group total.

The Group has abandoned the practice of showing the

interest earned on “cash and cash equivalents” under

“additional ordinary income”. The effect of the change

is disclosed under note 11 “financial expenses”. The

comparative figures have been restated in the consoli-

dated statement of income.

The decrease in other ordinary income is mainly due to

a reduction in income generated from disposals of op-

erations falling outside the framework of the Group’s

core activities. In addition, lower gains on the disposal

of property, plant and equipment reduced other ordi-

nary income against the previous year.

10 Additional Ordinary Income (Expenses)

Million CHF 2000 1999

Dividends earned 35 26

Interest earned 62 60

Other ordinary income 133 171

Depreciation and amortization of non-operating assets (65) (50)

Total 165 207

8 Summary of Depreciation and Amortization

Million CHF 2000 1999

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Production facilities 960 797

Distribution and sales facilities 95 71

Administrative facilities 68 55

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,123 923

Other depreciation and amortization of operating assets 241 228

Depreciation and amortization of operating assets  (A) 1,364 1,151

Additional depreciation – associates 5 3

Amortization of goodwill – associates 19 15

Ordinary depreciation of non-operating property, plant and equipment 17 32

Unusual write-offs 24 0

Depreciation and amortization of non-operating assets  (B) 65 50

Total depreciation and amortization  (A + B) 1,429 1,201

Of which depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,140 955

86 87



12 Income Taxes

Million CHF 2000 1999

Current taxation 487 449

Deferred taxation (39) (34)

Total 448 415

Analysis of income tax charge

Million CHF 2000 1999

Expected tax expense 489 464

Utilization / capitalization of tax loss carryforwards (177) (41)

Other 136 (8)

Effective income tax charge 448 415

Effective income tax rate in % 30.2 29.8

13 Personnel Expenses

Million CHF 2000 1999

Wages and salaries 1,606 1,473

Social security and pension expenses 461 371

Other personnel expenses 197 153

Total 2,264 1,997

14 Number of Personnel at Year-End

A total of 44,316 (1999: 39,327) people were employed

by the Group at year-end. The increase in head count 

of 4,989 (1999: –1,193) employees was mainly due to 

new consolidations in regions Asia Pacific and Africa

Middle East. This increase was partly offset by various

restructuring programs during the year.

17 Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Earnings per share is calculated on the basis of Group 

net income after minority interests and the weighted

number of dividend-bearing shares after deduction 

of treasury shares. Based on a weighted number of 

5,249,589 (1999: 5,163,063) bearer and 10,503,962 (1999:

10,304,744) registered shares, earnings per bearer share

amount to CHF 120.60 (1999: 110.06) and per registered

share CHF 24.12 (1999: 22.01). The fully diluted EPS fac-

tors take into account the potential dilution effects 

should the conversion options on the zero coupon con-

vertible bonds (1999 to 2014), the 1% convertible bonds

(1998 to 2004) and the share option plan be exercised. The

fully diluted EPS is based on a weighted average number

of 5,632,312 (1999: 5,437,844) bearer shares – the two

bonds may be converted into 381,666 (1999: 274,781)

bearer shares – and 10,503,962 (1999: 10,304,744) regis-

tered shares. It amounts to CHF 118.00 (1999: 108.50) per

bearer and CHF 23.60 (1999: 21.70) per registered share.

16 Group Net Income After Minority Interests

The 11.4% increase was mainly due to stronger results

in Europe and Latin America. Group net income after

minority interests came to CHF 886 million (1999: 795) 

representing 85.6% (1999: 81.3%) of Group net income

before minority interests.

15 Research and Development

Research and development expenses were again con-

fined to the existing product range and to investigat-

ing production processes and environmental protec-

tion. Basic research costs of CHF 5 million (1999: 5) 

were charged directly to the consolidated statement of

income. No significant costs were incurred for licenses

obtained from third parties, nor was any major revenue

generated from licenses granted.

18 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Million CHF 2000 1999

Cash at banks and on hand 1,290 1,089

Marketable securities 9 5

Other marketable securities 989 529

Total 2,288 1,623

Of which pledged / restricted 2 20

Cash and cash equivalents include securities as well as

money market papers and bonds earmarked for sale.

11 Financial Expenses

Million CHF 2000 1999

Financial expenses 766 647

Interest earned on cash and cash equivalents (95) (81)

Foreign exchange losses (gains) net 39 (25)

Financial expenses capitalized (27) (21)

Total 683 520

Of which to associates 1 1

The Group has modified the presentation of interest

earned on “cash and cash equivalents” from “addition-

al ordinary income” (note 10) to “financial expenses”.

The comparative figures have been restated in the con-

solidated statement of income.

Financial expenses capitalized comprises interest ex-

penditure on larger-scale projects during the year. In

2000, such projects included construction of cement

plants at Holnam Inc. (USA) and Juan Minetti S.A.

(Argentina). The average rate of interest in financial lia-

bilities on hand 

at December 31 increased to 6.4% (1999: 5.9%).

Of which transactions with associates

Million CHF 2000 1999

Dividends earned 27 16

Interest earned 4 6

Undistributed earnings 33 9

Other ordinary income 7 8

Amortization of goodwill on investments in associates (24) (18)

Total 47 21

The effective income tax rate was lower than the ex-

pected rate due to offsetting tax loss carryforwards with

the current year’s result and by capitalizing the recov-

erable tax loss carryforward, in particular at Merone

S.p.A. (Italy) in the amount of CHF 72 million and at

“Holdercim” Brasil S.A. in the amount of CHF 77 million.
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20 Inventories

Million CHF 2000 1999

Raw materials and additives 216 207

Semi-finished and finished products 612 581

Fuels 132 134

Parts and supplies 437 480

Unbilled services 26 17

Total 1,423 1,419

Of which pledged / restricted 0 2

19 Accounts Receivable

Million CHF 2000 1999

Accounts receivable – trade 1,915 2,003

Accounts receivable – associates 91 83

Other receivables 687 435

Allowances for doubtful accounts (207) (225)

Total 2,486 2,296

Of which pledged / restricted 30 22

21 Financial Investments

Million CHF 2000 1999

Financial investments – associates 993 1,258

Financial investments – third parties 849 260

Long-term receivables – associates 158 168

Long-term receivables – third parties 386 311

Total 2,386 1,997

Of which pledged / restricted 31 111

The increase in financial investments in third party

companies includes the share purchase of Cimpor – 

Cimentos de Portugal, S.A. (Portugal). The increase in

financial investments in associated companies reflects

the acquisition of non-consolidated interests at Ce-

mentos Progreso S.A. (Guatemala), Eastern Bulkcem

Co. Ltd. (Nigeria) and Corporación INCEM S.A. (Pana-

ma). Currently, Hyundai Cement (Bangladesh) Co., Ltd.

(Bangladesh) is being treated as an associated com-

pany but will be taken into the scope of consolidation

from 2001. The valuation of financial investments in

associates is based on the equity accounted carrying

value that resulted in a CHF 33 million (1999: 9) in-

crease in investments in associates.

22 Property, Plant and Equipment

At cost of acquisition Land Buildings, Machines Furniture, Construction Total Total
installations vehicles, in progress 2000 1999

tools

Million CHF

January 1 2,160 5,226 12,987 2,141 927 23,441 19,880

Change in structure 140 372 1,389 204 183 2,288 922

Additions 25 43 192 128 1,383 1,771 1,255

Disposals (61) (76) (225) (168) (2) (532) (431)

Transferred from construction in progress 70 190 765 137 (1,162) 0 0

Currency translation adjustments (37) (92) (403) (43) (28) (603) 1,815

December 31 2,297 5,663 14,705 2,399 1,301 26,365 23,441

Purchase value of leased property,
plant and equipment 142 170

Accumulated depreciation Land Buildings, Machines Furniture, Construction Total Total
installations vehicles, in progress 2000 1999

tools

Million CHF

January 1 530 2,596 7,153 1,414 1 11,694 9,769

Change in structure 9 196 653 139 1 998 429

Additions 39 195 682 217 7 1,140 955

Disposals (13) (52) (195) (145) (1) (406) (304)

Impairment loss (charged to income) 0 0 1 0 0 1 19

Currency translation adjustments (11) (52) (236) (27) (2) (328) 826

December 31 554 2,883 8,058 1,598 6 13,099 11,694

Accumulated depreciation of leased
property, plant and equipment 36 44

Net book value as at December 31 1,743 2,780 6,647 801 1,295 13,266 11,747

Net asset value of leased property,
plant and equipment 106 126

Of which pledged / restricted 19 59 77 1 0 156 323

The net book value of CHF 13,266 million (1999:

11,747) represents 50.3% (1999: 50.1%) of the original

cost of all assets. Pledged / restricted assets decreased

to CHF 156 million (1999: 323) due to debt refinancing.

At December 31, the fire insurance value of property,

plant and equipment amounts to CHF 26,178 million

(1999: 23,782).

90 91



23 Intangible and Other Assets

At cost of acquisition Goodwill Negative Goodwill Other Total Total
goodwill net intangible 2000 1999

assets

Million CHF

January 1 2,816 (194) 2,622 262 2,884 2,474

Additions 505 (17) 488 28 516 380

Disposals (5) 0 (5) (39) (44) 0

Additions of subsidiaries 163 (14) 149 30 179 49

Disposals of subsidiaries (21) 2 (19) (43) (62) (19)

December 31 3,458 (223) 3,235 238 3,473 2,884

Accumulated amortization Goodwill Negative Goodwill Other Total Total
goodwill net intangible 2000 1999

assets

Million CHF

January 1 774 (63) 711 85 796 643

Additions 214 (13) 201 25 226 222

Disposals (1) 0 (1) (39) (40) 0

Disposals (additions) of subsidiaries (18) 2 (16) (36) (52) (7)

Currency translation effects 54 (16) 38 13 51 (62)

December 31 1,023 (90) 933 48 981 796

Net book value as at December 31 2,435 (133) 2,302 190 2,492 2,088

Other assets (net) 444 369

Total 2,936 2,457

26 Other Current Liabilities

Million CHF 2000 1999

Other non interest-bearing liabilities 1,207 968

Provisions for income taxes payable 174 220

Total 1,381 1,188

25 Current Financing Liabilities

Million CHF 2000 1999

Current financing liabilities

Associates 18 9

Third parties 2,643 1,362

Current portion of long-term financing

Third parties 616 585

Leases 18 26

Total 3,295 1,982

Of which secured 37 44

24 Trade Accounts Payable

Million CHF 2000 1999

Trade accounts payable – third parties 1,064 955

Trade accounts payable – associates 12 10

Advance payments from customers 38 32

Total 1,114 997

27 Long-Term Financing Liabilities

Million CHF 2000 1999

Long-term financing liabilities

Associates 9 6

Third parties 8,044 7,266

Total 8,053 7,272

Of which secured 812 751

Maturity schedule of long-term financing
liabilities (including current portion)

Million CHF 2000 1999

Within 1 year 634 611

Within 2 years 1,131 1,043

Within 3 years 1,648 591

Within 4 years 1,096 1,237

Within 5 years 1,371 1,155

Thereafter 2,807 3,246

Total 8,687 7,883
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Outstanding bonds and private placements as at December 31, 2000

Company Currency Amount in millions Term Callable Interest rate

“Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. CHF 100 1995–2002 5.0%

“Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. CHF 500 2000–2005 4.5%

“Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. CHF 500 1998–2009 4.0%

Holderbank Capital Corporation Ltd.1 USD 200 1998–2003 5.5%

Holderbank Capital Corporation Ltd.1/2 CHF 125 1995–2005 5.125%

Holderbank Capital Corporation Ltd.1/2 CHF 150 1996–2006 5.0%

Holderbank Capital Corporation Ltd.1/2 CHF 200 1997–2007 3.75%

Holderbank Overseas Finance Ltd.1/3 CHF 419 1998–2004 1.0%

Holderbank Overseas Finance Ltd.1/4 CHF 448 1999–2014 2002 1.0%

Holnam Inc. (private placement) USD 45 1998–2003 6.33%

Holnam Inc. (private placement) USD 60 1998–2005 6.52%

Holnam Inc. (private placement) USD 95 1998–2008 6.8%

Holnam Inc. (industrial revenue bonds) USD 27 1991–2009 5.5%

Holnam Inc. (industrial revenue bonds) USD 82 1999–2032 5.2%

St. Lawrence Cement Inc. USD 18 1988–2020 5.46%

Société des Ciments Libanais SAL USD 85 1999–2006 10.0%

1 Issues are guaranteed by “Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. 
2 The bonds were converted into USD by currency swaps at the date of 

issue.
3 Each bond with a par value of CHF 5,000.– may be converted into 2.32558

bearer shares of “Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. during the period 
May 14, 1998 to May 14, 2004. 

4 Zero coupon convertible bond. The bonds were issued at par and have a 
redemption price at maturity of 116.0969%. One debenture of CHF
5,000.– at par value may be converted into 2.08333 bearer shares of
“Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. during the period July 28, 1999 to 
July 21, 2014.

Of which rental and lease commitments

Million CHF Operating leases Finance leases

Rental / lease commitments current year 54 18

Maturity of rental / lease commitments

Within 1 year 43 20

Within 2 years 38 27

Within 3 years 32 14

Within 4 years 28 13

Within 5 years 25 12

Thereafter 42 135

Total 208 221

Interest (93)

Total finance leases 128

28 Long-Term Provisions

Deferred Retirement Site restoration Other Total 2000
taxes benefits and other provisions

environmental
liabilities

Million CHF

Balance at January 1 1,194 284 130 423 2,031

Transitional effect from adopting IAS 37 (32) 0 155 0 123

Balance at January 1 as restated 1,162 284 285 423 2,154

Change in structure 48 30 (6) 31 103

Provisions made during the year 25 35 7 86 153

Provisions used during the year 0 (40) (10) (75) (125)

Provisions reversed during the year (19) (1) (2) (79) (101)

Currency translation adjustments (15) (5) (1) (17) (38)

Balance as at December 31 1,201 303 273 369 2,146

For the first time in 2000, the Group adopted the new

standard IAS 37 on provisions, contingent liabilities

and contingent assets. The effect of that change in ac-

counting policy was reflected in the balance of re-

tained earnings as at January 1, 2000 in accordance

with the transitional provisions of the respective 

standard. The net transitional effect is CHF 123 million,

whereof CHF 99 million on the 2000 opening balance of 

retained earnings of the consolidated shareholders’

equity “Holderbank” and CHF 24 million on the inter-

ests of minority shareholders. Comparative informa-

tion has not been restated.

Deferred taxes

Million CHF 2000 1999

Calculation based on comprehensive liability method

Analysis of temporary differences

Current assets 35 134

Long-term assets 4,493 4,457

Liabilities (45) (173)

Total temporary differences 4,483 4,418

Provision for short and long-term deferred taxes 1,201 1,194

Long-term financing liabilities, including those re-

payable during 2001, comprise loans and advances of

CHF 5,502 million (1999: 5,465), publicly traded loans

amounting to CHF 3,057 million (1999: 2,286) and rental

and lease commitments totaling CHF 128 million (1999:

132). All loans and advances were obtained from banks

and financial institutions. Unutilized credit lines totaled

CHF 1,790 million (1999: 1,964) as at December 31. 
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Employee Benefits Obligations

Defined benefit plan: Some Group companies provide

pension plans which under IAS are considered as de-

fined benefit pension plans for their employees. Provi-

sions for pension obligations are established for bene-

fits payable in the form of retirement, disability and

surviving dependents’ pensions. The benefits offered

vary according to the legal, fiscal and economic condi-

tions of each country. Benefits are dependent on years

of service and the respective employee’s compensation

and contribution.

Upon adoption of IAS 19 (revised 1998) on January 1,

1999, the Group determined its transitional liability for

defined benefit plan as the present value of the obliga-

tion at the date of adoption less the fair value of plan

assets and past service cost. As a result of the new val-

uation, the increase in liabilities was treated according

to IAS 8 and recorded against beginning retained earn-

ings as at January 1, 1998. The Group records an asset

only if there is control over the asset. For Swiss plans

“Holderbank” does not consider the net asset to be un-

der its full control and therefore no asset is recorded.

The obligation resulting from defined benefit pension

plans is determined using the projected unit credit

method. Unrecognized gains and losses resulting from

changes in actuarial assumptions are recognized as in-

come (expense) over the expected remaining service

life of the active employees. There were no plan termi-

nations, curtailments or settlements for the years end-

ed December 31, 2000 and 1999.

The following table reconciles the funded status of 

defined benefit plans to the amounts recognized in the

balance sheet, including the movement in the balance

sheet: 

Employee Benefits Obligations Defined benefit Defined benefit Other post 
plans plans employment benefits

underfunded overfunded underfunded
2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999

Million CHF

Present value of funded defined benefit obligations 282 53 1,279 1,405 0 3

Fair value of plan assets (207) (22) (1,567) (1,760) 0 0

Present value of unfunded obligations 119 123 0 0 122 116

Unrecognized actuarial gains and losses 9 1 38 72 7 12

Unrecognized past service cost (16) (3) 0 0 (3) (3)

Present value of unrecognized refunds 0 0 12 14 0 0

Net liability (asset) from funded and unfunded plans 187 152 (238) (269) 126 128

Benefits costs (included in personnel expenses)

Million CHF

Current service cost 12 4 50 58 1 2

Interest expense on obligations 24 7 59 65 7 8

Expected return on plan assets (18) (1) (91) (98) 0 0

Net actuarial losses (gains) recognized 2 (1) (1) 0 0 0

Past service cost 0 0 (2) (5) 0 0

Others 0 2 (9) (9) 3 (3)

Total 20 11 6 11 11 7

Net liability (asset) in balance sheet

Million CHF

January 1 152 136 (32) (48) 128 145

Net expense recognized in statement of income 14 11 20 19 9 9

Contributions (7) (5) (38) (19) (1) (1)

Change in structure 22 0 (15) 0 0 0

Currency translation adjustments (2) 0 1 0 1 0

Others 8 10 (9) 16 (11) (25)

December 31 187 152 (73) (32) 126 128

Principal actuarial assumptions (weighted average of

all pension plans) used to determine pension obliga-

tions as at December 31, 2000 and 1999 were as 

follows:

Principal actuarial assumptions

Percentage

Discount rate at December 31 6.57 6.71 4.44 5.04 7.70 7.34

Expected return on plan assets 7.72 6.25 5.46 5.83 0 0

Rate of wage and salary increases 4.41 4.35 3.38 4.11 4.89 2.39

Tax loss carryforwards Loss carryforwards Tax effect Loss carryforwards Tax effect

Million CHF 2000 2000 1999 1999

Utilization of tax loss carryforwards to reduce
the income tax expense 108 32 59 16

Total tax loss carryforwards 1,280 408 1,166 376

Of which reflected in deferred income tax (754) (261) (376) (113)

Total tax loss not recognized 526 147 790 263

To be recognized as follows:

1 year 70 23 110 39

2 years 45 13 92 33

3 years 97 25 71 21

4 years 98 28 135 37

5 years 116 26 274 92

Thereafter 100 32 108 41
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31 Derivative Financial Instruments

Million CHF Nominal value Market value Book value

2000 1999 2000 1999 2000 1999

Interest rate instruments 1,919 2,192 (96) (110) 0 2

Currency instruments 646 596 (92) (75) 0 0

Total 2,565 2,788 (188) (185) 0 2

29 Interests of Minority Shareholders

Million CHF Note 2000 1999

January 1 1,802 1,423

Transitional effect from adopting IAS 37 28 (24) 0

January 1 restated 1,778 1,423

New minorities acquired 291 204

Buy out of minorities (188) (189)

Capital paid-in 3 3

Profit distribution (124) (100)

Minority interests in income 149 183

Currency translation adjustments (9) 278

December 31 1,900 1,802

30 Purchase Commitments, Contingencies and Guarantees

Million CHF 2000 1999

Purchase and capital commitments 1,020 562

Contingencies and guarantees 334 199

Total 1,354 761

Purchase and capital commitments include commit-

ments to purchase goods and services, investments in

property, plant and equipment as well as the acquisi-

tion of participations that will occur at a future date

and at a price or value agreed in advance.

Employee Share Participation Plans

“Holderbank” established an employee share owner-

ship plan for all employees of Swiss subsidiaries and

some executives from Group companies. This entitles

employees  to acquire discounted “Holderbank” shares,

however, with disposal restrictions. In addition, part 

of the compensation of key executives is paid in 

“Holderbank” shares valued at market price and with

disposal restrictions. All shares are purchased from 

the market and the cost is charged to the statement of

income as personnel expenses. Therefore, no dilution

effect of “Holderbank” shares occurs.  

Contingencies

In the ordinary course of business, the Group is in-

volved in lawsuits, claims, investigations and proceed-

ings, including product liability, commercial, environ-

mental and health and safety matters. There are no

such matters pending that the Group expects to be 

material in relation to the Group’s business, financial

position or results of operations. Furthermore, the 

Group operates in countries where political, economic,

social and legal developments could have an impact 

on the Group’s operations. The effects of such risks

which arise in the normal course of business are not

foreseeable and are therefore not included in the ac-

companying financial statements.

The nominal value reflects the contract volume. By

combining various derivative instruments, individual

hedging transactions may be several times larger than

the underlying transaction. The market value is the

price differential as at year-end marked against the

market. The book value discloses that portion of a fi-

nancial instrument that has already been taken to the

statement of income. The underlying transaction dis-

closed in the financial statements reflects the nature of

the derivative financial instruments.

Share Options

Share options are granted to employees. Movements 

in the number of share options outstanding giving 

the rights to purchase “Holderbank” shares are as fol-

lows:

Number 2000

January 1 0

Granted 1,386

Exercised 0

Lapsed 0

December 31 1,386

The above-mentioned share options were granted 

on March 27, 2000 at the market share price on that

date of CHF 1,809.00 and expire on March 27, 2008. The 

options cannot be exercised during a blocking period of

3 years from the date of granting. The Group purchased

the shares for grant under the share option plan in the

open market at the date of granting.

Call  and Put Options for Acquisitions and 

Divestitures

In the ordinary course of business, the Group buys 

and sells investments, associate companies and Group

companies or portions thereof. It is common practice

that the Group makes offers or receives call or put 

options in connection with such acquisitions and 

divestitures. Respective contractual capital commit-

ments are included in the table above. The Group does

not expect to incur losses as a result of these offers and

options.
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Monetary net current assets by currency

Million CHF Cash and cash Accounts Trade Current Other Total Total
equivalents receivable accounts financing current 2000 1999

payable liabilities liabilities

CHF 644 195 73 94 124 548 366

EUR 633 13 0 532 1 113 103

BEF 2 235 69 375 158 (365) (446)

FRF 21 343 160 48 74 82 40

ESP 0 71 97 48 22 (96) 2

DEM 20 142 29 388 79 (334) (233)

ITL 42 144 73 1 26 86 (56)

USD 689 510 142 844 414 (201) 192

CAD 0 74 93 0 69 (88) (30)

MXN 56 189 93 0 92 60 10

VEB 0 27 5 136 16 (130) (7)

CLP 1 106 20 9 9 69 46

ZAR 7 70 22 52 36 (33) (25)

Others 173 367 238 768 261 (727) (210)

Total 2,288 2,486 1,114 3,295 1,381 (1,016) (248)

Currency Risks

The Group enters into various types of foreign exchange

contracts in managing its foreign exchange risk result-

ing from cash flows from (anticipated) business activi-

ties and financing arrangements denominated in for-

eign currencies. Transaction risk is principally calculated

in each foreign currency and includes currency denomi-

nated short-term assets and short-term liabilities and 

certain off-balance sheet items such as firm and proba-

ble purchase and sales commitments. The currency risks

of the Group occur due to the fact that the Group’s pro-

duction and sales operations are in different countries

worldwide. Currency risks are hedged mostly based on

net exposures. The impact of these hedging transactions

is shown as financial expense in the statement of in-

come.

Liquidity Risks

Liquidity risks arise from the possibility that customers

may not be able to settle their obligations as agreed. To

manage this risk the Group periodically assesses the 

financial reliability of customers. The Group maintains 

an adequate cash position and credit lines.

Credit Risks

Credit risks, or the risks of counterparties defaulting,

are constantly monitored. Counterparties to financial

instruments consist of a large number of major finan-

cial institutions. The Group does not expect any coun-

terparties to fail to meet their obligations, given their

high credit ratings. The Group has no significant con-

centration of credit risk with any single counterparty or

group of counterparties.

Total financial liabilities by currency

2000 Million CHF in % Interest rate 1999 Million CHF in % Interest rate

CHF 2,621 23.1 3.4 CHF 1,646 17.8 3.1

EUR 844 7.4 5.3 EUR 0 0 0

BEF 1,263 11.1 5.1 BEF 1,283 13.8 3.6

FRF 270 2.4 4.8 FRF 227 2.5 4.6

ESP 288 2.5 5.4 ESP 266 2.9 3.5

DEM 491 4.3 5.3 DEM 438 4.7 4.3

ITL 2 0 4.8 ITL 162 1.8 3.1

USD 4,626 40.8 7.4 USD 3,837 41.5 7.3

VEB 136 1.2 13.0 VEB 7 0.1 24.8

ZAR 137 1.2 12.7 ZAR 162 1.8 9.2

AUD 124 1.1 7.1 AUD 178 1.9 6.1

NZD 202 1.8 7.5 NZD 254 2.7 6.4

Others 344 3.0 9.7 Others 793 7.8 8.7

Total 11,348 100.0 6.4 Total 9,254 100.0 5.9

32 Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Supported by a positive development in profitability

and better management of net working capital, the

Group’s cash flow from operating activities increased

substantially during the course of the year to CHF

2,557 million (1999: 1,902). Cash generated from oper-

ations increased by 33.4% and was able to cover the

higher interest and tax payments of CHF 270 million. 

Interest payments increased due to higher borrowing

levels that were needed to finance the investing activ-

ities. Tax payments were higher primarily as a result of

the increase in profitability. All Group regions showed

improvements in cash flow during the year.
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Interest Rate Risks

The Group enters into various types of interest rate de-

rivative contracts to lower its funding costs, to diversi-

fy sources of funding, or to alter interest rate exposures

arising from mismatches between assets and liabilities. 

Interest rate swaps, forwards and options allow the

Group to adjust the floating rate receivables and bor-

rowings into fixed rates or vice versa.



Cash flow from acquisitions and divestments of Group companies

Acquisitions Divestments

Million CHF 2000 1999 2000 1999

Cash and cash equivalents (109) (42) 3 8

Other current assets (33) (86) 8 49

Long-term assets (88) (571) 72 96

Other current liabilities 37 344 (12) (39)

Long-term financing liabilities and long-term provisions 30 153 (22) (7)

Fair value of (purchased) disposed Group companies (163) (202) 49 107

Acquired (disposed) cash and cash equivalents 109 42 (3) (8)

Fair value net (54) (160) 46 99

Fair value net “Holderbank’s” share 42 (42) 30 64

Goodwill (34) (269) 0 12

Net income from divestments 20 83

Net cash flow 8 (311) 50 159

There was a significant increase in the cash flow from

investing activities for the Group. Expenditures in prop-

erty, plant and equipment increased mainly as a result

of expansion projects at Holnam Inc. (USA), St. Lawrence

Cement Inc. (Canada) and Apasco S.A. de C.V. (Mexico). 

Major financial investments include the continued mi-

nority buy outs of certain strategic shareholdings as

well as increased holdings in consolidated companies.

Included are the partial minority buy outs of Apasco S.A.

de C.V. (Mexico), St. Lawrence Cement Inc. (Canada),

Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E. (Egypt), “Holdercim”

Brasil S.A. (Brazil), Juan Minetti  S.A. (Argentina), Teng-

gara Cement Manufacturing Sdn Bhd (Malaysia) and

Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited (Thailand). 

The inclusion of Siam City Cement (Public) Company Lim-

ited (Thailand) and Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E.

(Egypt) into the scope of consolidation resulted in an

overall cash inflow out of their respective opening 

cash balances. Additional financial investments include

companies new to the Group’s scope of consolidation –

Alcim SA and Cimus SA (Romania), United Quarries  Ltd.

(Bulgaria) and “Garadagh” Cement J.S.C. (Azerbaijan) –

and the purchase of minority and non-consolidated 

interests that include Cementos Progreso S.A. (Guate-

mala), “Caricement” (Netherlands Antilles), Corporación

INCEM S.A. (Panama), Eastern Bulkcem Co. Ltd. (Nigeria)

and Hyundai Cement (Bangladesh) Co., Ltd. (Bangla-

desh). One of the major non-consolidated investments

during the course of the year has been the purchase of

Cimpor – Cimentos de Portugal, S.A. (Portugal) shares

that is included within the financial investments.

The divestments of Amstutz AG (Switzerland), Gulf

Electric Company Limited (Thailand), Vápenka Pra-

chovice s.r.o (Czech Republic), SACCI (Italy) and the

share disposal in Cedro & Melon S.A. (Romania) and

Dolomite Colombo Srl (Italy) are indicative of the

Group’s continued strategic focus to move away from

the non-core activities.

Investments in emerging markets continued to form a

substantial portion of the total investing activities.

During the year, CHF 2,374 million (1999: 1,148) or 

67% (1999: 61%) of the total investments was spent 

to strengthen “Holderbank’s” position in these high-

potential markets, in line with Group strategy.

33 Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Investments in property, plant and equipment net

Million CHF 2000 1999

Replacements 946 624

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment (130) (144)

Capital expenditures on property, plant and equipment to
maintain productive capacity and to secure competitiveness 816 480

Expansion investments 824 631

Total investments in property, plant and equipment net   (A) 1,640 1,111

Financial investments

Million CHF 2000 1999

Acquisition of Group companies (net of cash and cash equivalents acquired) (42) 42

Increase of participation in Group companies 273 95

Financial investments 1,345 546

Increase in other assets (mainly goodwill) 595 515

Total 2,171 1,198

Financial divestments

Million CHF 2000 1999

Disposal of Group companies (net of cash and cash equivalents disposed of) 50 147

Decrease of participation in Group companies 7 0

Financial divestments 175 294

Decrease in other assets (mainly goodwill) 10 47

Total 242 488

Total financial investments net   (B) 1,929 710

Total cash flow from investing activities   (A + B) 3,569 1,821
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Report of the Group Auditors 

As auditors of the Group, we have audited the consoli-

dated financial statements (statement of income, bal-

ance sheet, statement of changes in equity, cash flow

statement and notes on pages 74 to 104) of “Holder-

bank” Financière Glaris Ltd. for the year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2000.

These consolidated financial statements are the re-

sponsibility of the Board of Directors. Our responsibili-

ty is to express an opinion on these consolidated fi-

nancial statements based on our audit. We confirm

that we meet the legal requirements concerning pro-

fessional qualification and independence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing

standards promulgated by the Swiss profession and

with the International Standards on Auditing issued by

the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC),

which require that an audit be planned and performed

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the

consolidated financial statements are free from mate-

rial misstatement. We have examined on a test basis

evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in

the consolidated financial statements. We have also 

assessed the accounting principles used, significant es-

timates made and the overall consolidated financial

statement presentation. We believe that our audit pro-

vides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, based on our audit and on the reports of

other auditors, the consolidated financial statements

give a true and fair view of the financial position, the

results of operations and the cash flows in accordance

with International Accounting Standards and comply

with Swiss law.

We recommend that the consolidated financial state-

ments submitted to you be approved.

Zurich, March 26, 2001

Arthur Andersen AG

Paul Hoeve Markus Schweizer

34 Cash Flow from Financing Activities

The Group has abandoned the practice of showing the

movement of treasury shares under “cash flow from in-

vesting activities”. The effect of the change is disclosed

as “cash flow from financing activities”. The compara-

tive figures have been restated in the consolidated cash

flow statement.

35 Post-Balance Sheet Events

There were no significant post-balance sheet events.

36 Transactions with Major Shareholders and 

Members of the Board of Directors

Total remuneration to members of the Board of Direc-

tors of “Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. was CHF 0.8

million in 2000 and 1999. 

In 2000 and 1999, there were no other reportable trans-

actions neither with major shareholders and members

of the Board of Directors of “Holderbank” Financière

Glaris Ltd.

37 Authorization of the Financial Statements 

for Issue

The financial statements are authorized for issuance 

by the Board of Directors of “Holderbank” Financière

Glaris Ltd. on March 26, 2001 and cannot be amended 

after the issuance.
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Region Company Country of incorporation Consolidated
or residence interest

Europe S.A. Ciments d’Obourg Belgium 100%

Origny S.A. France 100%

HISALBA – Hornos Ibéricos Alba S.A. Spain 99.9%

Umar – Unión Marítima Internacional S.A. Spain 100%

Alsen AG Germany 84.3%

96.9%

Breisgauer Cement GmbH Germany 100%

Eternit AG Switzerland 100%

HCB – “Holderbank” Cement und Beton Switzerland 100%

“Holderbank” Management and Consulting Ltd. Switzerland 100%

Merone S.p.A. Italy 100%

CEVA Prachovice a.s. Czech Republic 96.0%

Hirocem a.s. Slovakia 97.0%

Pannoncem Cementipari Rt. Hungary 70.4%

Tvornica Cementa Koromačno Croatia 98.8%

Breitenburger Romania s.r.l. Romania 100%

Bulgarcem Holding GmbH Austria 100%

North America Holnam Inc. USA 100%

St. Lawrence Cement Inc. Canada 63.6%

78.9%

Latin America Apasco S.A. de C.V. Mexico 65.1%

Grupo Incsa-PC Costa Rica 55.0%

Cementos Boyacá S.A. Colombia 99.7%

Cementos Caribe C.A. Venezuela 99.9%

La Cemento Nacional C.A. Ecuador 72.8%

“Holdercim” Brasil S.A. Brazil 90.8%

Juan Minetti S.A. Argentina 48.8%

Cemento Polpaico S.A. Chile 54.3%

Africa Middle East CIOR – Les Ciments de l’Oriental S.A. Morocco 51.0%

Alpha (Pty) Limited South Africa 54.4%

Egyptian Cement Company S.A.E.2 Egypt 43.7%

Société des Ciments Libanais SAL Lebanon 54.1%

Asia Pacific “Garadagh” Cement J.S.C. Azerbaijan 86.0%

PCCL Group Sri Lanka 94.4%

Siam City Cement (Public) Company Limited2 Thailand 33.3%

Tenggara Cement Manufacturing Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100%

Morning Star Cement Ltd. Vietnam 65.0%

Alsons Cement Corporation Philippines 49.6%

Queensland Cement Ltd. Australia 100%

Milburn New Zealand Ltd. New Zealand 100%

Associated Companies Macedonia: A.D. Cementarnica Usje

Cyprus: The Cyprus Cement Company Ltd.

Estonia: AS Kunda Nordic Tsement

Russia: Alfa Cement JSC

Guatemala: Cementos Progreso S.A.

El Salvador: Cemento de El Salvador S.A. de C.V.

Honduras: Cementos del Norte S.A. de C.V.

Nicaragua: Cemenic S.A.

Nicaragua: Nicacem S.A.

Panama: Corporación INCEM S.A.

Dominican Republic: Cementos Colón S.A.

Netherlands Antilles: Caricement Antilles N.V.

Peru: Cementos Norte Pacasmayo S.A.

Nigeria: Eastern Bulkcem Co. Ltd.

Uzbekistan:  AO Akhangarancement

Bangladesh: Hyundai Cement (Bangladesh) Co., Ltd.

China: Huaxin Cement Company Ltd.

China: Suzhou Golden Cat Cement Ltd.

Philippines: Union Cement Corporation

1 Consolidated interest in voting rights.
2 Proportionate consolidation.
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Balance sheet of “Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. as at December 31 2000 1999

Million CHF

Cash and cash equivalents 478.9 244.6

Accounts receivable – Group companies 520.4 360.2

Accounts receivable – third parties 8.8 4.7

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 0.5 1.1

Total current assets 1,008.6 610.6

Loans – Group companies 1,291.7 1,002.2

Financial investments – Group companies 4,120.1 3,797.8

Other financial investments 39.5 0.6

Total long-term assets 5,451.3 4,800.6

Total assets 6,459.9 5,411.2

Current financing liabilities – Group companies 66.2 451.3

Current financing liabilities – third parties 770.6 10.0

Other current liabilities 23.7 13.4

Total short-term liabilities 860.5 474.7

Long-term financing liabilities – Group companies 609.5 714.7

Long-term financing liabilities – third parties 130.0 100.0

Debentures 1,100.0 400.0

Long-term provisions 508.3 497.9

Total long-term liabilities 2,347.8 1,712.6

Total liabilities 3,208.3 2,187.3

Authorized capital 377.2 377.2

Legal reserves

Ordinary reserve 557.0 557.1

Capital surplus 1,778.2 1,778.2

Reserve for treasury shares / reserved shares 82.3 287.9

Free reserve 262.8 57.2

Retained earnings 194.1 166.3

Total shareholders’ equity 3,251.6 3,223.9

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 6,459.9 5,411.2

Statement of income “Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. 2000 1999

Million CHF

Financial income 293.9 223.2

Other ordinary income 1.8 17.6

Extraordinary income 8.2 486.2

Total income 303.9 727.0

Financial expenses (64.9) (46.9)

Other ordinary expenses (16.2) (10.4)

Extraordinary expenses 0 (498.6)

Change in provisions and valuation adjustments on financial investments (24.4) (2.0)

Taxes (8.7) (8.5)

Total expenses (114.2) (566.4)

Net income 189.7 160.6
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1 USD 222 million at CHF 1.6370.  

Data as Required under Articles 663b and c
of the Swiss Code of Obligations

Contingent Liabilities

Holderbank Capital Corporation Ltd. 31.12.2000 in million CHF 31.12.1999 in million CHF

Guarantees in respect of holders of

5.5% USD 200 million notes due in 2003 3631 354

5.125% CHF 125 million bonds due in 2005 140 140

5% CHF 150 million bonds due in 2006 165 165

3.75% CHF 200 million bonds due in 2007 215 215

Guarantees in respect of financial institutions

Swaps for above-mentioned bonds 97 78

Holderbank Overseas Finance Ltd.

Guarantees in respect of holders of

1% CHF 419.25 million convertible bonds due in 2004 428 428

Zero coupon CHF 448 million convertible bonds due in 2014 454 450

Issued Bonds

The outstanding bonds and private placements as at

December 31, 2000 are listed on page 94.

Principal Investments

The principal direct and indirect investments of

“Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. are listed under the

heading “Principal Companies of the “Holderbank”

Group” on pages 106 and 107.
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Treasury bearer shares Number Price per share in CHF Million CHF

01.01.99 Treasury shares 180,715 1,243.77 224.8

01.01. to 31.12.99 Movement (12,090) n.a. 63.1

31.12.99 Treasury shares 168,625 1,707.31 287.9

01.01.00 Treasury shares 168,625 1,707.31 287.9

01.01. to 31.12.00 Movement (121,794)1 n.a. (205.6)

31.12.00 Treasury shares 46,831 1,757.43 82.3

Treasury registered shares Number Price per share in CHF Million CHF

01.01.99 Treasury shares 0 0 0

01.01. to 31.12.99 Movement 42 260.69 0

31.12.99 Treasury shares 42 260.69 0

01.01.00 Treasury shares 42 260.69 0

01.01. to 31.12.00 Movement (42) 495.00 0

31.12.00 Treasury shares 0 0 0

Conditional bearer share capital Number Price per share in CHF Million CHF

01.01.99 Conditional shares par value 160,315 50.00 8.0

01.01. to 31.12.99 Movement 200,000 50.00 10.0

31.12.99 Conditional shares par value 360,315 50.00 18.0

01.01.00 Conditional shares par value 360,315 50.00 18.0

01.01. to 31.12.00 Movement 0 0 0

31.12.00 Conditional shares par value 360,315 50.00 18.0

1 During 2000 the Group sold 165,000 treasury shares with a right to 
repurchase them.

2 Shareholding of more than 5%.
3 Included in share interests of directors and officers.

Share Interests of Directors and Officers

As at December 31, 2000, the members of the Board of

Directors and the Executive Committee of “Holderbank”

held directly and indirectly in the aggregate 9,003,524

(1999: 9,002,821) registered shares and no rights to 

acquire further registered shares and 362,516 (1999:

363,523) bearer shares and 1,386 call options on 

bearer shares (1999: 0).

Important Shareholders2

As at December 31, 2000, Dr. h.c. Thomas Schmidheiny,

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Managing

Director, directly and indirectly held 8,992,101 (1999:

8,989,502) registered shares and 357,667 (1999:

360,034) bearer shares.3



Information on Main Activities of Board of Directors

Board of Directors Main activities Position

Dr. h.c. Thomas Schmidheiny, Schweizerische Cement-Industrie-Gesellschaft, Glaris Chairman

Chairman and Managing Director Credit Suisse Group, Zurich Director

Think Tools AG, Zurich Director

Xstrata AG, Zug Director

Dr. Anton E. Schrafl, Deputy Chairman Schweizerische Cement-Industrie-Gesellschaft, Glaris Director

Franke Holding AG, Aarburg Director

Organogenesis Inc., Canton (USA) Director

Apogee Technology Inc., Norwood (USA) Director

Dr. Erich Hunziker, Director Diethelm Keller Holding AG, Zurich CEO

eSASA.com, Atlanta (USA) Director

Schweizerische Cement-Industrie-Gesellschaft, Glaris Director

Dr. Willy Kissling, Director Unaxis Holding AG, Zurich Chairman and CEO

Forbo Holding SA, Eglisau Deputy Chairman

Esec Holding AG, Cham Chairman

Dr. Peter Kurer, Director Homburger Rechtsanwälte, Zurich Partner

Sihl, Zurich Director

Netstal-Maschinen AG, Näfels Director

Rothschild Continuation Holdings AG, Zug Director

Prof. Dr. Angelo Pozzi, Director Pozzi & Partner AG, Baden Chairman

Prof. Dr. Gilbert Probst, Director University of Geneva, Geneva Professor HEC

Kuoni Travel Holding Ltd., Zurich Director

Dr. h.c. Wolfgang Schürer, Director MS Management Service AG, St. Gallen Chairman and Managing Director

Dr. Rolf Soiron, Director Jungbunzlauer AG, Basel Director, CEO

Bellevue Holding AG, Zurich Director

Synthes-Stratec Inc., Paoli (USA) Director

Metalor Métaux Précieux S.A., Neuchâtel Director

Peter G. Wodtke, Director Schweizerische Cement-Industrie-Gesellschaft, Glaris Director

Atel Aare-Tessin Ltd. for Electricity, Olten Director

Banque A.I.G., Paris (France) Director

Aquila International Fund, Tortola (British Virgin Islands) Director

C.A.T. Holding, Luxemburg (Luxemburg) Director

Wingate Partners, Dallas (USA) Advisory Director

The information disclosed complies with all Swiss legal

requirements. 
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Appropriation of retained earnings 2000 1999

CHF

Retained earnings brought forward 4,365,967 5,666,714

Net income of the year 189,696,987 160,636,492

Retained earnings 194,062,954 166,303,206

The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General
Meeting of Shareholders of May 18, 2001 in Dübendorf 
the following appropriations: 

Gross dividend1 (187,440,000) (161,937,239)

Balance to be carried forward 6,622,954 4,365,967

As from May 23, 2001 the dividend will be paid by 

any of the banks designated by the company (UBS AG,

Credit Suisse First Boston, Bank Leu) upon presentation

of Coupon No. 12 from “Holderbank” bearer shares. The 

dividend on registered shares will be paid in accordance

with shareholders’ instructions.

1 No dividend is paid on treasury shares held by “Holderbank”. On January
1, 2001 treasury holdings amounted to 46,831 bearer shares.   

2 After deduction of 35% withholding tax.

Dividend-bearing share capital 2000 1999

Shares Number Million CHF Number Million CHF

Bearer shares of CHF 50.– par value 5,443,631 272.2 5,443,631 272.2

Registered shares of CHF 10.– par value 10,504,000 105.0 10,504,000 105.0

Total 377.2 377.2

This results in the following dividend per share:

Dividend Gross Net

Bearer share CHF 25.00 CHF 16.25

Registered share CHF 5.00 CHF 3.25



Auditors’ Report Holding Company

As statutory auditors, we have audited the accounting

records and the financial statements (statement of

income, balance sheet and notes on pages 108 to 113)

of “Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. for the year

ended December 31, 2000.

These financial statements are the responsibility of the

Board of Directors. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on these financial statements based on our

audit. We confirm that we meet the legal requirements

concerning professional qualification and indepen-

dence.

Our audit was conducted in accordance with auditing

standards promulgated by the Swiss profession, which

require that an audit be planned and performed to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the finan-

cial statements are free from material misstatement.

We have examined on a test basis evidence supporting

the amounts and disclosures in the financial state-

ments. We have also assessed the accounting principles 

used, significant estimates made and the overall finan-

cial statement presentation. We believe that our audit

provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the accounting records and financial

statements and the proposed appropriation of the

retained earnings comply with Swiss law and the com-

pany’s articles of incorporation.

We recommend that the financial statements submit-

ted to you be approved.

Zurich, March 26,  2001

Arthur Andersen AG

Paul Hoeve Markus Schweizer
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Bearer share

Par value CHF 50.– 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Number of shares issued 5,443,631 5,443,631 5,234,260 5,229,260 5,226,260

Number of dividend-bearing shares 5,443,631 5,443,631 5,234,260 5,129,146 5,098,711

Number of shares conditional capital 360,3151 360,315 160,315 165,315 168,315

Number of treasury shares 46,8312 168,625 180,715 73,360 51,414

Stock market prices in CHF; adjusted

High 2,273 2,193 2,149 1,469 1,000

Low 1,629 1,407 1,105 956 837

Consolidated earnings per dividend-bearing share in CHF 3 120.60 110.06 96.10 87.40 6.00

Consolidated shareholders’ equity per share in CHF 3 947.19 871.80 705.87 719.00 635.70

Gross dividend per share in CHF 25.005 22.00 20.00 20.00 17.00

Registered share

Par value CHF 10.– 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Number of shares issued 10,504,000 10,504,000 10,100,000 10,100,000 10,100,000

Number of dividend-bearing shares 10,504,000 10,504,000 10,100,000 10,100,000 10,100,000

Number of treasury shares 0 42 0 0 0

Stock market prices in CHF; adjusted

High 600 570 436 294 200

Low 437 300 224 193 168

Consolidated earnings per dividend-bearing share in CHF 3 24.12 22.01 19.22 17.48 1.20

Consolidated shareholders’ equity per share in CHF 3 189.44 174.36 141.17 143.80 127.15

Gross dividend per share in CHF 5.005 4.40 4.00 4.00 3.40

Additional Information

The shares are listed on the Swiss Exchange SWX and

are also traded on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange and in

the form of ADRs in the USA. The bearer share has secu-

rity code No. 188058 and the registered share No.

188057. Telekurs lists the bearer share under the code

HOL and the registered share under HOLN. The corre-

sponding codes under Reuters are HOLZ.S and HOLZn.S.

Every share, regardless of whether bearer or registered,

carries one voting right. The market capitalization of

“Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd. amounted to CHF

16,182  million (1999: 17,802) at December 31.

1 160,315 shares are reserved for the 1% convertible bonds issued 1998.  
2 All treasury shares are held to secure the conversion rights of the convert-

ible bonds issued 1998 and 1999 and the share option plan.  
3 After interests of minority shareholders; adjusted. 
4 After a specific provision and valuation adjustment of CHF 450 million for

restructuring.  
5 Proposed by the Board of Directors.
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Group

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Net sales Million CHF 14,012 12,194 11,268 11,265 9,951

Gross profit Million CHF 5,621 4,895 4,447 4,210 3,552

Operating profit Million CHF 2,001 1,706 1,567 1,435 1,103

Depreciation and amortization Million CHF 1,429 1,201 1,124 1,143 1,107

Income taxes Million CHF 448 415 366 301 134

Group net income before minority interests Million CHF 1,035 978 837 755 196

Group net income after minority interests Million CHF 886 795 682 618 43

Cash flow from operating activities Million CHF 2,557 1,902 1,887 1,630 1,524

Investments in property, plant and equipment net Million CHF 1,640 1,111 967 1,400 1,042

Financial investments net Million CHF 1,929 710 1,751 441 1,037

Current assets Million CHF 6,401 5,501 4,140 4,187 4,146

Long-term assets Million CHF 18,588 16,201 13,969 13,150 13,018

Short-term liabilities Million CHF 5,790 4,167 3,337 3,873 3,666

Long-term liabilities Million CHF 10,199 9,303 8,356 6,500 7,020

Shareholders’ equity2 Million CHF 9,000 8,232 6,416 6,964 6,478

Shareholders’ equity as % of total assets2 % 36.0 37.9 35.4 40.2 37.7

Interests of minority shareholders Million CHF 1,900 1,802 1,423 1,877 1,985

Total assets Million CHF 24,989 21,702 18,109 17,337 17,164

Production capacity cement Million t 109.8 90.0 83.2 78.9 77.8

Sales of cement and clinker Million t 82.0 74.6 68.4 64.3 62.3

Sales of aggregates Million t 86.6 84.9 83.9 81.1 73.3

Sales of ready-mixed concrete Million m3 24.9 21.8 20.8 19.4 18.2

Personnel Number 44,316 39,327 40,520 40,779 42,970

Holding company

2000 1999 1998 1997 1996

Net income Million CHF 189.7 160.6 141.9 143.2 118.3

Total assets Million CHF 6,460 5,411 4,663 3,782 3,368

Share capital Million CHF 377 377 363 363 362

Gross dividend Million CHF 187.43 161.9 141.7 141.0 121.0

1 After a specific provision and valuation adjustment of CHF 450 million for
restructuring. 

2 Including interests of minority shareholders. 
3 Proposed by the Board of Directors. 

1

1

1

1

1

5-
Ye

ar
 R

ev
ie

w

118 119



© 2001 “Holderbank” Financière Glaris Ltd.

Concept and design: 
Ernst Schadegg, Zurich-Gockhausen 
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Photos:
The two-page photographs in this annual report are the work of
French photographer Yann Arthus-Bertrand. The entire series of
more than 100,000 pictures is the result of 10 years of work and
more than 3,000 flying hours. Germany’s Geo Publishers produced
an extensive photography book entitled “Earth from Above”. 
An exhibition of the same name and sponsored by UNESCO has
already been displayed in Zurich’s Swiss National Museum and 
will travel to Spain, Mexico, Italy, England and Germany in 2001.
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